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PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP. is a global advanced materials company which develops and manufactures 

high-technology digital and RF/microwave printed circuit materials principally for the telecommunications and 

internet infrastructure and high-end computing markets and advanced composite materials, parts and assem-

blies for the aerospace markets. Park’s core capabilities are in the areas of polymer chemistry formulation and 

coating technology. The Company’s manufacturing facilities are located in Singapore, France, Kansas, Arizona 

and California. The Company also maintains R&D facilities in Arizona, Kansas and Singapore.



A MESSAGE FROM THE  
CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PARK—A COMPANY WITH A FUTURE?

The most important thing for us at Park is to create 

a future for our Company and our People. As I dis

cussed at some length in last year’s Annual Report 

letter, we believe that, in order to create an endur

ing future for Park and its People, we must become 

a “Niche Company”.

PARK—A NICHE COMPANY?

For us, being a Niche Company means doing what 

others are unwilling or unable to do. Being a Niche 

Company means saying “Yes” when others say 

“No”. Being a Niche Company means being a Com

pany of “Yes”! Even though our quest to become a 

Niche Company was very new at the time of last 

year’s Annual Report, I did review some early exam

ples of our Niche strategy at work in last year’s 

Annual Report letter. Of course, the question one 

year later is how are we doing with our quest to 

become a Niche Company. Let’s consider some of 

our recent Niche Company experiences, and then 

we will return to that important question.

MILITARY JET DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM—ONE 

GOOD NICHE DESERVES ANOTHER

In last year’s Annual Report letter, I discussed the 

work we had done in supplying, with very short 

lead times, a significant quantity of composite parts 

and lowvolume tools for the first nonconforming 

flying prototype of a new military jet being devel

oped by a large aerospace OEM Customer of ours. 

It was clear that the Customer awarded us the large 

quantity of parts and tools because of our short 

lead times, responsiveness and flexibility. After we 

completed the work on this first prototype, a senior 

executive of the Customer copied me on an email 

he sent to others at his company stating that Park 

moves and responds very quickly and has done a 

“great job” establishing itself as a very reliable sup

plier, especially in high pressure situations where 

lead times are highly compressed…but we ain’t 

cheap! I found those comments to be very interest

ing, as moving fast and being highly responsive and 

effective at executing in a high pressure, com

pressed timeline environment certainly could be 

Brian E. Shore, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
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considered to be Niche capabilities, because moving 

fast and being highly responsive and effective in a 

high pressure environment are things which others 

are often unwilling or unable to do. How about not 

being cheap, though? Well, since many others are 

willing (maybe even anxious) and able to be “cheap” 

and to compete on price, being cheap would not  

fit our definition of a Niche capability. Actually, I 

thought the comments made by this executive were 

perfect for Park and completely consistent with our 

Niche Company strategy. Interestingly, the Customer 

is now proceeding with the further development of 

this military aircraft, and they very recently asked us 

to produce an even larger quantity of parts, includ

ing complex and large bonded and assembled parts, 

and tools for a number of new conforming proto

types and early production aircraft and test articles. 

Once again, the Customer is working with a highly 

compressed time schedule! The Customer told us 

that they selected us for this next phase of their 

program, because they remembered very well the 

“great job” we had done with the very aggressive 

schedule on the first nonconforming prototype air

craft by providing parts and tools with lead times of 

less than two weeks in many cases (which is highly 

unusual and rare as far as I understand). We cer

tainly were not selected for being “cheap”, which 

we ain’t. To me, being selected for this next phase 

of the program validated that these capabilities of 

being fast, responsive and effective under pressure 

are true Niche capabilities. The compliments are 

nice to receive, but being selected for a significant 

portion of the program, notwithstanding the fact 

that we ain’t cheap, speaks a lot louder than the 

nice words.

By the way, we recently implemented our “Customer 

Flexibility Program” at our Park Aerospace Business 

Unit in Kansas in order to be able to ramp up and 

respond quickly to important Customer opportu

nities like this military jet development program. 

Under our Customer Flexibility Program, our People 

are trained and qualified to perform multiple 

functions in multiple manufacturing departments 

and are able to quickly move from one manufactur

ing department to another for maximum flexibility 

and responsiveness to Customer needs.

MAJOR JET ENGINE COMPANY—BIG NICHE

In last year’s Annual Report letter, I discussed how 

very fortunate and lucky we were to have been 

selected by a major Jet Engine Company for the 

supply of advanced composite materials into many 

of their key jet engine programs. Although Park is 

smaller and less experienced than some of our  

aerospace composite materials competitors, my 

understanding is that this Jet Engine Company 

selected Park as a major supplier in large part 

because of our willingness to say “Yes” when  

others may have been unwilling or unable to  

do so. And we continue to say “Yes” to the  

wonderful, albeit sometimes very challenging, 

oppor tunities presented to us by this major Jet 

Engine Company. Over the last two years, we have 

supported this Customer’s Automated Fiber 

Placement (AFP) development project with our 

E752LT toughened epoxy material designed  

specifically for AFP applications. As a result, our 

E752LT material is currently in the final stages of  

a demanding qualification and is going through 

shop trials with the Customer. In addition, we 

recently entered into a Joint Development 

Agreement with this Customer to develop a new 

material to be used in a wide array of aerospace 

structure applications. The Customer is bringing to 

bear their deep pool of scientific knowledge to help 

2 Park Electrochemical Corp.



with this development project. We are very fortu

nate and privileged to have been given these oppor

tunities to work with this major and special 

Customer which had certain needs for technical col

laboration and support to which we said “Yes” 

when others may have said “No”. The opportunities 

continue to develop and unfold with this major  

Jet Engine Company based, in my opinion, upon  

our willingness to say “Yes” and to be a Company 

of “Yes”.

NEXT GENERATION JOINT DEVELOPMENT 

PROJECT—ELECTRONICS OEM NICHE

Park recently entered into a Joint Development 

Agreement with a very large electronics OEM to 

develop a next generation electronics material prod

uct intended for specialized Niche applications in 

the highest end of the electronics infrastructure 

equipment markets. My understanding is that this 

OEM selected us as their “partner” for this project 

because they felt we were well equipped to suc

cessfully develop the desired product. We felt hon

ored to be selected for this project, and we gladly 

said “Yes” to the joint development opportunity 

with this OEM when others may have been unwill

ing or unable to do so. This Niche project is still in 

its relatively early stages, but the results are prom

ising to date.

DoD SPECIAL MISSION PROGRAM—CRITICAL 

MISSION NICHE

Park is very fortunate to have been selected to sup

port a critical DoD Special Mission program with 

numerous complex composite parts, assemblies and 

proprietary struts. Recently, our Customer (a signifi

cant contractor on the program) realized a mistake 

was made in an engineering definition related to 

the downstream assembly of one of the complex 

assembled parts produced by Park. This engineering 

definition mistake had brought the critical program 

to a standstill. Immediately upon hearing of the 

problem, Park dispatched two engineers to the 

Customer’s facility, and, with the help of Park’s 

engineers, the rework of the assembly was quickly 

completed on site, the engineering definition prob

lems were quickly resolved and the program was 

back up and running. A number of the Customer’s 

team members assigned to this critical project 

expressed “amazement” at Park’s reaction time and 

eagerness and ability to quickly, accurately and suc

cessfully jump in to solve the problems and to get 

the program back on track. It is pretty clear that, in 

responding with urgency to very quickly solve a 

Customer problem which urgently needed to be 

solved, Park was doing something which others 

were unwilling or unable to do. Once again, our 

ability to urgently and effectively respond to a criti

cal Customer problem certainly could be considered 

to be a Niche capability for Park.

PARK—A NICHE COMPANY

Niche opportunities come in all shapes and sizes. 

Some Niche opportunities are small and some are 

large (see “Major Jet Engine Company—Big Niche” 

above). But, it seems like one of the common 

themes for many of our Niche experiences to date  

is Park’s urgency, flexibility and effectiveness in 

responding to Customer needs or problems. This 

might take the form of providing our Customer with 

very short (maybe unheard of) lead times or having 

a very flexible workforce capable of making quick 

and last minute adjustments in order to accommo

date the Customer’s schedule or program needs or 

providing onsite engineering support to our 

Customer at their facility on a moment’s notice to 

solve a critical problem which has stalled out their 

Park Electrochemical Corp. 3



production line. So, we can say that bringing to 

bear an extreme degree of urgency, responsiveness 

and flexibility to solve Customer problems and to 

serve their urgent needs is an important Niche for 

Park, as it involves doing what others are unwilling 

or unable to do…as it involves saying “Yes” when 

others say only “No”. In order for Park to be suc

cessful in bringing to bear this extreme sense of 

urgency, flexibility and responsiveness, Park needs 

to have a highly engaged workforce which embraces 

and owns this sense of urgency, flexibility and 

responsiveness for solving Customer problems. 

Park’s People need to be ALL IN with our Niche 

Company Strategy, as executing our Niche Company 

Strategy requires an enormous amount of dedica

tion and commitment from our People. For Park, 

being a Niche Company is not a business school 

thing. It is not a board room thing. It is a factory 

floor thing. It is a Park People thing based upon our 

recognition and understanding that being a Niche 

Company is how our People create a future for the 

Company and themselves.

So, how are we doing with our quest to become a 

Niche Company? I believe we have gotten off to a 

pretty good start and have done fairly well so far, 

but we still have a long way to go. Being a Niche 

Company is not easy or for the weak of heart. We 

are on the path, but we have a way to go.

PARK—A COMPANY WITH A FUTURE?

Sometimes, I hear people talk about “being com

petitive” and “meeting or exceeding customer 

expectations” (expectations which may have been 

beaten down from receiving years and years of 

uninspired service) as proper objectives for a busi

ness. Those are nice concepts I suppose, but, to me, 

those terms speak to a standard of being more or 

less as good as the other guys, or maybe just a little 

better. To me, they speak to a standard of medioc

rity. And, for Park, there is no future in mediocrity, 

other than a future on the garbage heap of compa

nies which thought “OK” performance would be 

good enough. For Park to have any kind of real 

future, we can just forget about mediocrity. For 

Park, mediocrity is death…

For Park to have a future, we need to do what the 

other guys are unable to do. For Park to have a 

future, we need to do what the other guys are not 

even willing to think about doing. For Park to have a 

future, we need to say “Yes” when the other guys 

would not even consider saying “Yes”. For Park to 

have a future, we need to say “Yes” when it does 

not even seem possible to say “Yes”. Those are the 

things we must do in order to create a future for 

Park and Park’s People. So, will Park have a future?  

I believe we will, but it ultimately will depend on us 

and what we do. Maybe we should check back in 

60 years or so to find out.

THANK YOU

Thank you very much for your interest in our 

Company. As always, I do appreciate your taking 

the time to read my letter. I also recommend you 

read the articles in this report related to 5G 

Telecommunications and Private Space Exploration. I 

think you may find them to be of interest.

All the best to you!

Sincerely,

BRIAN E. SHORE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

4 Park Electrochemical Corp.



A GLOBAL ADVANCED  
MATERIALS COMPANY

Tempe,  
Arizona*

Fullerton,  
California

Newton,  
Kansas*

Lannemezan,  
France

Singapore*  
(Gul Plant)

Singapore 
(Pioneer Plant)

Melville, New York  
(Parent Company Offices)

*Manufacturing and R&D facility
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

6 Park Electrochemical Corp.

Feb. 28, 
2016

Mar. 1, 

2015

Mar. 2, 

2014

Mar. 3, 

2013

Feb. 26, 

2012

Net sales $ 145,855 $ 162,086 $ 165,764 $ 176,416 $ 193,254
Gross profit 42,752 48,953 48,100 50,550 54,742
Earnings before income taxes 20,498 22,790 22,082 20,885 27,651
Net earnings before special items 18,580 21,004 20,197 20,344 23,150
Net earnings (loss) 18,029 20,043 (42,329) 16,961 23,442
Diluted earnings per share before special items 0.91 1.00 0.97 0.98 1.11
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.89 0.96 (2.03) 0.81 1.13
Cash dividends per share 0.40 1.90 2.90 2.90 .40
Average common shares outstanding—diluted 20,352 20,986 20,849 20,823 20,792
Working capital 255,507 283,535 286,997 303,996 290,149
Total assets 314,777 350,682 377,093 369,658 365,988
Longterm debt 72,000 84,000 94,000 52,000 —
Shareholders’ equity 180,867 181,599 200,543 299,922 343,211
Equity per share 8.94 8.69 9.60 14.40 16.50

In fiscal year 2016, the Company recorded pretax restructuring charges of $535 related to the closure, in fiscal year 2013, of the Company’s 

Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China and the closure, in fiscal year 2009, of its New England Laminates Co., Inc. facility in 

New York and pretax deferred financing costs of $292 related to the early termination of the PNC Bank credit agreement that the 

Company entered into in February 2014, which was replaced by a threeyear revolving credit facility with HSBC Bank in January 2016.

In fiscal year 2015, the Company recorded pretax charges of $1,645 related to the closure, in fiscal year 2013, of its Nelco Technology 

(Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China and the closure, in fiscal year 2009, of its New England Laminates Co., Inc. facility in New York, cost  

reduction initiatives in the United States, additional fees incurred in connection with the 2014 fiscal yearend audit and the modification of 

previously issued employee stock options resulting from the special cash dividend paid by the company in February 2015.

In fiscal year 2014, the Company recorded a noncash charge of $63,958 for the accrual of U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings 

of the Company’s subsidiary in Singapore, which included $34,404 related to the U.S. income tax that would be payable if the Company 

were to repatriate funds in an aftertax amount necessary to repay the Company’s existing $104,000 principal amount bank loan from PNC 

Bank and $29,554 relating to the remainder of the undistributed earnings of the Company’s subsidiary in Singapore, and pretax charges 

of $1,208 related to a modification of previously issued employee stock options resulting from the special cash dividend paid by the 

Company in February 2014, to a fee related to the retention of Bank of America Merrill Lynch for financial advisory services and to the closure 

of the Company’s Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China, and a tax benefit of $2,181 in connection with a tax refund related 

to amended federal income tax returns.

In fiscal year 2013, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $3,703 primarily for the closures of its Park Advanced Composite 

Materials, Inc. facility in Connecticut and its Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China.

In fiscal year 2012, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $1,250 in connection with the closure of its Park Advanced Composite 

Materials, Inc. facility in Connecticut and other pretax income of $1,598 relating to the settlement of certain lawsuits.

The information in the table above includes all the charges, income, benefits and reserves described in the preceding paragraphs, except  

net earnings before special items and diluted earnings per share before special items, which do not include such charges, income, benefits  

and reserves.



TEN YEAR STATISTICAL GROWTH HIGHLIGHTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
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Feb. 28, 
2016

Mar. 1, 
2015

Mar. 2, 
2014

Mar. 3, 
2013

Feb. 26, 
2012

Feb. 27, 
2011

Feb. 28, 
2010

Mar. 1, 
2009

Mar. 2,
2008

Feb. 25, 
2007

OPERATIONS
Net sales $ 145,855 $ 162,086 $ 165,764 $ 176,416 $ 193,254 $ 211,652 $ 175,686 $ 200,062 $ 241,852 $ 257,377
Cost of sales 103,103 113,133 117,664 125,866 138,512 141,751 124,084 156,638 179,398 193,270
Gross profit 42,752 48,953 48,100 50,550 54,742 69,901 51,602 43,424 62,454 64,107
Gross profit % 29.3 30.2 29.0 28.7 28.3 33.0 29.4 21.7 25.8 24.9
S, G & A 21,211 24,373 25,168 26,595 28,247 27,917 24,480 24,806 27,159 26,682
S, G & A % 14.5 15.0 15.2 15.1 14.6 13.2 14.0 12.4 11.2 10.4
Earnings from continuing operations 21,006 23,401 22,386 20,252 25,245 40,672 27,122 12,361 33,933 36,109
Earnings from continuing operations % 14.4 14.4 13.5 11.5 13.1 19.2 15.4 6.2 14.0 14.0
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes  

and special items 21,325 24,434 23,609 24,588 27,303 42,629 28,184 25,266 44,656 45,458
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 20,498 22,790 22,082 20,885 27,651 41,317 28,184 19,009 43,294 44,142
Net earnings from continuing operations  

before special items 18,580 21,004 20,197 20,344 23,150 33,933 23,204 18,859 34,541 35,002
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations 18,029 20,043 (42,329) 16,961 23,442 32,621 25,359 18,514 34,679 39,791
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations % 12.4 12.4 (25.5) 9.6 12.1 15.4 14.4 9.3 14.3 15.5
Diluted earnings per share from continuing  

operations before special items 0.91 1.00 0.97 0.98 1.11 1.64 1.13 .92 1.70 1.72
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations 0.89 0.96 (2.03) 0.81 1.13 1.58 1.23 .90 1.70 1.96
Return on shareholders’ equity from continuing operations 

before special items % 10.3 11.0 8.0 6.3 6.9 10.6 7.6 6.7 13.0 13.7

In addition to the charges, income, benefits and reserves described in the paragraphs following the “Financial Highlights” table on the preceding page, the Company recorded an additional charge of $1,312 in 
fiscal year 2011 in connection with the closure, in January 2009, of its Neltec Europe SAS electronic materials business unit in France; the Company recorded tax benefits of $3,050 in fiscal year 2010 for the 
reduction of certain deferred tax liabilities in Singapore related to a temporary tax incentive for offshore interest repatriation and $945 primarily for a retroactive extension of a development and expansion tax 
incentive in Singapore and additional tax reserves of $1,188 in the United States; the Company recorded pretax charges of $5,687 in fiscal year 2009 related to the closure of its New England Laminates Co., Inc. 
electronic materials business unit in New York and the closure of its Neltec Europe SAS business unit in France and related to a workforce reduction and an asset impairment at its Nelco Products Pre. Ltd.  
electronic materials and advanced composite materials business unit in Singapore and a pretax charge of $570 related to restructurings at certain of its North American and European business units and  
recognized tax benefits of $1,236 related to these charges and a tax benefit of $4,677 related to the elimination of valuation allowances resulting principally from the closure of the New England Laminates Co., 
Inc. business unit and recorded a discontinued operations benefit of $16,486 related to the elimination of a liability from discontinued operations of its Dielektra GmbH subsidiary in Germany; the Company 
recorded an employment termination benefits charge of $1,362 in fiscal year 2008 related to a workforce reduction at the Company’s business unit in France and a tax benefit of $1,500 relating to the reduction 
of tax reserves; and the Company recorded a tax benefit of $715 in fiscal year 2007 relating to the recognition of tax credits resulting from operating losses sustained in prior years in France, a pretax charge of 
$1,316 in connection with the termination of a life insurance arrangement with Jerry Shore, the Company’s founder and former Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and a tax benefit of $499 relating 
to such insurance termination charge and recognized tax benefits of $3,500 in fiscal year 2007 relating to the elimination of certain valuation allowances previously established relating to deferred tax assets in 
the United States and $1,391 relating to the elimination of reserves no longer required as the result of the completion of a tax audit.

The information in the table above includes all the charges, income, benefits, reserves and gains described in the paragraphs following the “Financial Highlights” table on the preceding page and in the preceding 
paragraph, except net earnings from continuing operations before special items and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations before special items, which do not include such charges, income, 
benefits, reserves and gains.

FINANCIAL POSITION
Current assets 272,185 313,259 311,240 320,674 311,590 296,959 282,678 263,931 271,039 266,332
Current liabilities 16,678 29,724 24,243 16,678 21,441 25,253 21,642 24,286 31,979 32,565
Working capital 255,507 283,535 286,997 303,996 290,149 271,706 261,036 239,645 239,060 233,767
Current ratio 16.3 10.5 12.9 19.2 14.5 11.8 13.1 10.9 8.5 8.2
Property, plant and equipment—net 21,512 26,537 29,674 32,187 38,695 41,292 44,905 48,777 47,188 49,895
Total assets 314,777 350,682 377,093 369,658 365,988 353,808 343,104 327,579 327,407 321,922
Longterm debt 72,000 84,000 94,000 52,000 — — — — — —
Shareholders’ equity 180,867 181,599 200,543 299,922 343,211 325,308 316,098 295,709 269,172 264,167
Total capitalization 252,867 265,599 294,543 351,922 343,211 325,308 316,098 295,709 269,172 264,167
OTHER DATA
Capital expenditures 398 430 1,117 1,447 3,994 3,699 3,422 12,224 4,525 4,793
Depreciation and amortization 3,369 3,559 3,757 4,269 5,891 6,746 7,057 7,707 8,286 8,992
Equity per share 8.94 8.69 9.60 14.40 16.50 15.70 15.40 14.45 13.23 13.08
Cash dividends per share 0.40 1.90 2.90 2.90 .40 1.40 .36 .32 1.82 1.32
Average number of employees 454 491 518 568 613 613 594 797 906 942
Sales per employee 321 330 320 311 315 345 296 251 267 273
Average common shares outstanding—diluted 20,352 20,986 20,849 20,823 20,792 20,675 20,547 20,486 20,364 20,317



5G TELECOMMUNICATIONS—
TOMORROW’S STANDARD

Why 5G telecommunications? The industry is still 

rolling out 4G and LTE. So what is driving the need 

for a next generation of mobile telecommunica

tions? The overarching concept is to enable a fully 

mobile and connected society. To achieve this, 

improvements over existing 4G and LTE networks 

must be realized in several areas. These improve

ments include greater throughput, much lower 

latency (delay from when a signal is sent to when it 

arrives), ultrahigh reliability, higher connectivity 

density, lower power consumption and higher 

mobility range. Enhanced performance must also  

be accompanied by security and trust, identity  

and privacy.

The groundwork for 5G telecommunications is 

being established. At this time, no one knows 

exactly what the standards for 5G telecommunica

tions will be. However, experts agree that we are 

seeking more capacity, less latency and significantly 

less power consumption. The drivers for 5G are:

•  Data rates of several tens of megabits per second 

supported for tens of thousands of users;

•  One gigabit per second offered simultaneously to 

many workers on the same office floor;

•  Several hundreds of thousands of simultaneous con

nections supported for massive sensor deployments 

(Internet of Things);

•  Latency under one millisecond (tactile Internet); and

•  10x longer battery life—50 to 100x lower power 

consumption.

The one thing all of these requirements call for is a 

need to move data much faster than the Internet’s 

current capability. The following graph illustrates 

where we are today and the near future demand, 

according to Cisco Systems.

Demand is expected to grow markedly beyond 

2020, and 5G implementation is expected to begin 

at that time.

Quantity of data is only half of the measure. Latency 

will be a major factor in infrastructure design. A few 

seconds delay from when a movie is requested to 

when it starts, or a second delay in receiving data 

from a search request, is not a problem. However, 

beyond 2020, grouptogroup video communica

tion with high resolution will have much wider use. 

Examples of video use include data delivery for opti

cal headmounted displays and collaboration in 3D 

operating rooms with both physical and virtual pres

ence. The number of concurrently active connec

tions, combined with the required data rate and 

endtoend latency, will present a challenge. Latency 

becomes extremely important in tactile Internet 

(wireless control of real and virtual objects), which 

will include using software that resides in the cloud 

instead of the device. Robotic control and interac

tion includes multiple applications, such as manufac

turing, remote medical care and autonomous cars. 

These applications will require latency to be less 

than a millisecond. The 5G system should give the 

end user the perception of instant response.

PARK’S ELECTRONICS ACTIVITIES
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Another primary driver for 5G is mobility. We can

not be truly mobile when tethered to a wall outlet. 

Therefore, another requirement is three days of  

battery life for cell phones. The “Internet of Things” 

will require massive increases in connection density. 

Up to several hundred thousand simultaneous active 

connections per square kilometer should be sup

ported for massive sensor deployments.

Extremely high data rates and ultralow latency will 

require hardware that operates at higher frequen

cies than today’s routers, switches and servers. The 

manufacturers of this equipment are the OEMs for 

whom Park designs and manufactures electronic 

materials. These OEMs are asking for advanced 

materials that will operate at 25 GHz over very long 

signal paths. Such high rates are possible today only 

for small boards that will not be able to meet the 

needs that 5G networks will demand. Building 

larger boards will require polymers with very low 

loss, fiberglass with lower loss and copper foils with 

nearly zero roughness. Park works directly with 

polymer manufac turers, fiberglass weavers, yarn 

manufacturers and copper foil manufacturers to 

design products that will meet the requirements  

of 5G networks. In addition to meeting basic elec

trical requirements, the materials must also be  

capable of being built into a multilayered circuit 

board with a high density of drilled and plated holes 

and vias. OEMs are specifying Park’s patented 

Meteorwave®2000 for the most advanced designs 

today to meet the needs of LTE networks. In 2015, 

Park commercialized its patented Meteorwave 4000 

to push the envelope a step further.

In addition to the circuitry for routers and servers, 

more antennas will be required for 5G. Park’s pat

ented Mercurywave®9350 is a material which is very 

well suited for 5G antennas. Mercurywave 9350’s 

high stiffness allows it to be used for large antennas 

that can withstand the many harsh environments 

around the world. In addition to Mercurywave 

9350, Park offers a full range of PTFE laminates suit

able for high frequency antennas. System designs to 

meet 5G requirements are on the drawing board 

now, and materials for those designs will be selected 

in the very near future.

Park is excited and honored to be able to participate 

in the development and buildout of tomorrow’s 5G 

telecommunications infrastructure.

Park Electrochemical Corp. 9



THE EXCITING NEW FIELD OF  
PRIVATE SPACE EXPLORATION

Private companies like Blue Origin, SpaceX, Virgin 

Galactic and others have recently entered the space 

race. These companies are racing to own the con

sumer space travel and communications markets 

and are taking composites along for the ride. The 

evolution from government funded space explora

tion by NASA to privately funded space exploration 

has created a fastpaced competition to enter space 

and a unique opportunity for high performing, 

weight saving materials, like composites.

In 2012, SpaceX became the first privately funded 

company to launch a spacecraft to the International 

Space Station (ISS). Under contract with NASA, 

SpaceX has subsequently flown several supply mis

sions to the ISS using the Falcon rocket and the 

Dragon spacecraft. A humanrated Dragon capsule 

is under development to transport crew to the ISS. 

Manned missions to Mars are a future goal of 

SpaceX founder, Elon Musk.

Recently, SpaceX initiated the launch of a satellite 

construction business to support a global satellite 

internet service. This project includes plans to build 

and launch satellites which will beam the internet to 

all regions of the world.

In November 2015, Blue Origin’s New Shepard 

rocket became the first booster to launch into space 

and successfully make a vertical soft landing on 

earth, marking a big step in the quest to develop 

reusable rockets. Reusing rocket engines will reduce 

launch costs by millions of dollars and will be a new 

standard in affordable space exploration. Blue 

Origin has formed a partnership with United Launch 

Alliance to produce the BE4 engine (which could 

be used by the Vulcan launch vehicle, a successor to 

the Atlas V rocket). Blue Origin recently announced 

that it has leased Launch Complex 36 in Cape 

Canaveral, Florida, where it will build a launch pad 

for its orbital launch vehicle. Rockets will be manu

factured nearby.

The Spaceship Company, which is owned by Virgin 

Galactic, has developed the SpaceShipTwo vehicle 

to provide commercial space travel. Over 700 future 

astronauts, from 50 countries, have signed up  

and made deposits for their future flights on 

SpaceShipTwo. In a separate venture, Virgin Galactic 

won a contract with NASA to launch twelve satel

lites on the new small satellite launch vehicle, 

LauncherOne, the new launcher designed to make 

the launch of small satellites more affordable.

With this fast growth of private space, companies 

have been rethinking how to use current technol

ogy in a more costeffective way. How do we create 

products that are scalable and affordable to meet 

demand? Rocket engines now need to be reusable. 

Once expensive, complex satellites are now being 

replaced by microsatellites with the same capabili

ties as bigger satellites at a fraction of the cost. 

Launches of satellites for broadband internet com

munications are projected to be in the thousands 

each year in the next decade. Google has recently 

invested in SpaceX and plans to launch a number of 

satellites over 15 years to form a satellite constella

tion system for global Internet service.

PARK’S AEROSPACE ACTIVITIES

NASA plans to contract with up to three private space compa-
nies for resupply missions to the International Space Station 
(pictured above).
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Reusable rocket engines, miniature low cost com

munications satellites and space tourism have  

dramatically changed the approach to space explo

ration. The Orion program plans to put astronauts 

on Mars by the 2030s.

Space exploration would not be possible without 

the support of a sound infrastructure. Launch vehi

cles require rocket motor propulsion systems to 

allow spacecraft to escape the earth’s gravity and 

enter into orbit. Rocket engine nozzles contain high 

temperature performance composites referred to as 

ablatives. Park’s ablative materials allow rocket 

motors to survive temperatures in excess of 5000°F 

as hot gas flows over nozzle surfaces. Park’s carbon 

and silica phenolic ablative materials have been 

used extensively in the rocket nozzles of major 

launch vehicles, including the Atlas V, Patriot Missile 

and Standard Missile 3. Private companies like 

AerojetRocketdyne with the Atlas program, and 

Orbital ATK with the Vulcan program, continue to 

deliver high performance propulsion systems for 

large scale commercial and military programs.

Weight reduction and strength are critical for suc

cessful space missions. Composite materials have 

unparalleled material performance capabilities to 

meet the demands of space travel. Park’s tough

ened epoxy systems, including E765, E752 and 

E752LT (which is designed for Automated Fiber 

Placement (AFP) manufacturing processes), are used 

to produce primary and secondary advanced com

posite structures on space vehicles and satellites to 

reduce weight, while offering high strength and the 

ability to withstand large temperature fluctuations. 

Park also offers composite materials used to manu

facture radomes, satellite reflectors, nose cones, 

heat shields and payload fairings.

Park’s patented composite SIGMA STRUTs are used 

by Northrop Grumman on the James Webb Space 

Telescope and are being used in and designed  

into private space programs. The SIGMA STRUT™ 

offers a significant reduction in weight when com

pared to metal struts. SIGMA STRUTs can be used  

in tension and compression applications and sup

port loads measured in the hundreds of thousands 

of pounds! They are custom designed for specific 

axial loads (tension and compression), length, diam

eter and end fitting configurations. SIGMA STRUTs 

have been successfully used to support very heavy 

loads. Additional applications for SIGMA STRUTs 

include equipment supports, pushrods, thrust struc

tures and truss structure members for space and 

terrestrial applications.

It is an exciting and busy era for the use of compos

ites in the exploration of space, and Park is honored 

to be able to participate in the exciting field of pri

vate space exploration.

The SpaceX Dragon spacecraft.

The Spaceship Company’s sub-orbital launch system consists 
of SpaceShipTwo (center of frame) which is carried to high 
altitude for launch by WhiteKnightTwo.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF  
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

GENERAL:

Park Electrochemical Corp. (“Park” or the “Company”) is a 

global advanced materials company which develops, manu-

factures, markets and sells high-technology digital and 

radio frequency (“RF”)/microwave printed circuit materials 

products principally for the telecommunications and inter-

net infrastructure and high-end computing markets and 

advanced composite materials, parts and assemblies prod-

ucts and low-volume tooling for the aerospace markets. 

Park’s core capabilities are in the areas of polymer chemistry 

formulation and coating technology. The Company’s manu-

facturing facilities are located in Singapore, France, Kansas, 

Arizona and California. The Company also maintains 

research and development facilities in Arizona, Kansas and 

Singapore.

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53 week period end-

ing the Sunday nearest to the last day of February. The 

2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal years ended on February 28, 

2016, March 1, 2015 and March 2, 2014, respectively. The 

2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal years consisted of 52 weeks. 

Unless otherwise indicated in this Discussion and Anal

ysis, all references to years in this Discussion and Anal

ysis are to the Company’s fiscal years and all annual 

information in this Discussion and Analysis is for such 

fiscal years.

2016 Financial Overview

The Company’s total net sales worldwide in 2016 were 

10% lower than in 2015 primarily due to lower sales of the 

Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia and 

North America, partially offset by higher sales of the Com-

pany’s aerospace composite materials, parts and assemblies 

and low-volume tooling. The lower sales in Asia were pri-

marily due to a slowdown in demand for the Company’s 

products which are used by OEMs in the manufacture of 

equipment for the internet and telecommunications infra-

structure in developing countries. The Company’s higher 

sales in Asia in 2015 were the result of a spike in demand 

for the Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia 

caused by internet and telecommunications infrastructure 

build-out programs in developing countries. In addition, the 

original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) which manu-

facture equipment for these programs rapidly increased 

their inventory levels in excess of program demands.

The Company’s gross profit margin, measured as a percent-

age of sales, decreased to 29.3% in 2016 from 30.2% in 

2015 due primarily to lower sales and production levels of 

the Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia and 

North America in 2016 combined with the fixed nature of 

certain overhead costs, which were partially offset by higher 

sales of the Company’s aerospace products, an improve-

ment in its printed circuit materials production processes in 

North America, cost reduction initiatives in the United States 

and lower utility rates. The gross profit in 2016 also bene-

fited from the higher percentage of sales of higher margin, 

high performance printed circuit materials products than in 

2015 and the growing percentage of sales of the Company’s 

more technically advanced high performance products.

The Company’s earnings from operations and net earnings 

in 2016 were 10% lower than in 2015, primarily as a result 

of the aforementioned decreases in sales and gross profit 

margin, partially offset by a 13% reduction in selling, gen-

eral and administrative expenses. Selling, general and 

administrative expenses decreased primarily due to cost 

reduction initiatives, decreases in shipping expenses and 

legal and professional fees, lower incentive compensation 

expenses and favorable foreign exchange rates. Earnings 

from operations in 2016 included pre-tax restructuring 

charges of $0.5 million in connection with the closure in 

fiscal year 2013 of the Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. 

(“Nelco Zhuhai”) facility located in the Free Trade Zone  

in Zhuhai, China and the closure in fiscal year 2009 of  

the New England Laminates Co., Inc. facility located in 

Newburgh, New York. Earnings from operations in 2015 

included pre-tax charges of $1.6 million related to a modifi-

cation of previously issued employee stock options, addi-

tional fees incurred in connection with the 2014 fiscal 

year-end audit and the cost reduction initiatives and facility 

closures mentioned above.

During the first quarter of 2016, the Company sold the Nelco 

Zhuhai building in Zhuhai, China for $2.0 million. There was 

no gain or loss on the sale of the building, since the carry-

ing value of the building was equal to the selling price.
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During 2016, the Company repatriated $61.0 million to the 

United States from its subsidiary in Singapore primarily to 

replenish domestic cash that was used to pay a special cash 

dividend of $1.50 per share in the fourth quarter of 2015 

and to purchase 718,588 shares of the Company’s stock in 

the fourth quarter of 2015 and during 2016. The Company 

made tax payments of $10.7 million in the first quarter of 

2016 in connection with such repatriation. The $61.0 million 

repatriation did not have an impact on the provision for 

income taxes during 2016, since the income taxes on the 

repatriation were previously accrued during the fourth 

quarter of 2014.

The global markets for the Company’s products continue to 

be very difficult to forecast, and it is not clear to the 

Company what the demand for the Company’s products 

will be in 2017 or beyond.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:

Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015
Fiscal Year Ended

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

February 28, 

2016

March 1, 

2015 Increase/(Decrease)

Net sales $145,855 $ 162,086 $ (16,231) –10%

Cost of sales 103,103 113,133 (10,030) –9%

Gross profit 42,752 48,953 (6,201) –13%

Selling, general and administrative expenses 21,211 24,373 (3,162) –13%

Restructuring charges 535 1,179 (644) –55%

Earnings from operations 21,006 23,401 (2,395) –10%

Interest expense 1,657 1,438 219 15%

Interest and other income 1,149 827 322 39%

Earnings before income taxes 20,498 22,790 (2,292) –10%

Income tax provision 2,469 2,747 (278) –10%

Net earnings $ 18,029 $ 20,043 $ (2,014) –10%

Earnings per share:

 Basic earnings per share $   0.89 $ 0.96 $ (0.07) –7%

 Diluted earnings per share $   0.89 $ 0.96 $ (0.07) –7%

Net Sales

The Company’s total net sales worldwide in 2016 decreased 

10% from 2015 primarily as a result of lower sales of the 

Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia and 

North America, partially offset by higher sales of the 

Company’s aerospace composite materials, parts and 

assemblies products. The lower sales in Asia were primarily 

due to a slowdown in demand for the Company’s products 

which are used by OEMs in the manufacture of equipment 

for the internet and telecommunications infrastructure in 

developing countries. The Company’s higher sales in Asia in 

2015 were the result of a spike in demand for the Company’s 

printed circuit materials products in Asia caused by internet  

and telecommunications infrastructure build-out programs  

in developing countries. In addition, the OEMs which manu-

facture equipment for these programs rapidly increased 

their inventory levels in excess of program demands.

The Company’s total net sales of its printed circuit materials 

products were $106.7 million and $126.4 million in 2016 

and 2015, respectively, or 73% and 78%, respectively, of 

the Company’s total net sales worldwide in such periods. 

The Company’s total net sales of its aerospace composite 

materials, parts and assemblies products were $39.1 million 

and $35.6 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively, or 27% 

and 22%, respectively, of the Company’s total net sales 

worldwide in such periods.
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The Company’s foreign sales were $70.6 million, or 48% of 

the Company’s total net sales worldwide, during 2016 com-

pared to $86.7 million of sales, or 53% of total net sales 

worldwide, during 2015. The decrease in 2016 was primarily 

due to the lower sales in Asia for reasons described above.

The Company’s sales in North America, Asia and Europe 

were 52%, 42% and 6%, respectively, of the Company’s 

total net sales worldwide in 2016 compared to 46%, 47% 

and 7%, respectively, in 2015. The Company’s sales in 

North America remained relatively flat, while its sales in 

Asia decreased 19% and its sales in Europe decreased 12% 

in 2016 compared to 2015.

During 2016, 93% of the Company’s total net sales worldwide 

of printed circuit materials consisted of high performance 

printed circuit materials, compared to 92% during 2015.

The Company’s high performance printed circuit materials 

(non-FR4 printed circuit materials) include high-speed, low-

loss materials for digital and RF/microwave applications 

requiring lead-free compatibility and high bandwidth signal 

integrity, bismalimide triazine (“BT”) materials, polyimides 

for applications that demand extremely high thermal per-

formance and reliability, cyanate esters, quartz reinforced 

materials, and polytetrafluoroethylene (“PTFE”) and modi-

fied epoxy materials for RF/microwave systems that operate 

at frequencies up to at least 79GHz.

Gross Profit

The Company’s gross profit margin, measured as a percent-

age of sales, decreased to 29.3% in 2016 from 30.2% in 

2015 due primarily to lower sales and production levels of 

the Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia  

and North America in 2016 combined with the fixed nature 

of certain overhead costs, which were partially offset by 

higher sales of the Company’s aerospace products, an 

improvement in its printed circuit materials production proc-

esses in North America, cost reduction initiatives in the 

United States and lower utility rates. The gross profit in 

2016 also benefited from the higher percentage of sales of 

higher margin, high performance printed circuit materials 

products than in 2015 and the growing percentage of sales 

of the Company’s more technically advanced high perfor-

mance products.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 

$3.2 million, or 13%, during 2016 compared to 2015. Such 

expenses measured as percentages of sales were 14.5% 

during 2016 compared to 15.0% during 2015. The decrease 

in such expenses in 2016 was primarily the result of cost 

reduction initiatives, lower shipping expenses commensu-

rate with the sales reduction in 2016, a decrease in legal 

and professional fees, lower incentive compensation 

expenses and favorable foreign exchange rates.

During 2015, the Company recorded non-cash charges of 

$0.4 million related to the modification of previously issued 

employee stock options in connection with the $1.50 per 

share special cash dividend paid by the Company in February 

2015 and additional fees incurred in connection with the 

2014 fiscal year-end audit. Selling, general and administra-

tive expenses in 2016 included $1.5 million of stock option 

expenses compared to $1.4 million of such expenses in 2015.

Restructuring Charges

During 2016, the Company recorded pre-tax restructuring 

charges of $0.5 million in connection with the closures in 

prior years of its facilities located in Zhuhai, China and 

Newburgh, New York, compared to pre-tax restructuring 

charges of $1.2 million in 2015 in connection with cost 

reduction initiatives in the United States and the aforemen-

tioned facility closures.

Earnings from Operations

For the reasons set forth above, the Company’s earnings 

from operations were $21.0 million for 2016, including pre-

tax charges of $0.5 million associated with the closures in 

prior years of facilities in Zhuhai, China and Newburgh, New 

York, compared to $23.4 million for 2015, including the 

non-cash pre-tax charges of $0.2 million associated with 

the modification of previously issued employee stock 

options, pre-tax restructuring charges of $1.2 million related 

to cost reduction initiatives in the United States and the  

closures in prior years of facilities in Zhuhai, China and 

Newburgh, New York and a pre-tax charge of $0.2 million 

for additional fees incurred in connection with the 2014  

fiscal year-end audit.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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Interest Expense

Interest expense in 2016 was $1.7 million, compared to $1.4 

million in 2015. The increase in interest expense in 2016 

was primarily due to pre-tax deferred financing costs of 

$0.3 million related to the early termination of the PNC 

Bank credit agreement. As previously reported, the Com-

pany entered into a three-year revolving credit facility agree-

ment with HSBC Bank USA in January 2016, which replaced 

the credit facility agreement that the Company entered into 

with PNC Bank in February 2014. See Note 10 of the Notes 

to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in 

this Report and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” elsewhere 

in this Discussion for additional information.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income were $1.1 million and $0.8 mil-

lion for 2016 and 2015, respectively. The 39% increase in 

2016 was primarily the result of higher weighted average 

interest rates based on larger average balances of market-

able securities held by the Company in 2016 compared to 

last year’s comparable period. During 2016 and 2015, the 

Company earned interest income principally from its invest-

ments, which were primarily in short-term instruments and 

money market funds.

Income Tax Provision

The Company’s effective income tax rate of 12.0% for 2016 

was lower than the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate 

because portions of the Company’s taxable income in 2016 

were derived in foreign jurisdictions with lower effective 

income tax rates. The Company’s effective income tax rate 

was 12.1% for 2015. See “Results of Operations—Fiscal 

Year 2015 Compared to Fiscal Year 2014—Income Tax 

Provision” elsewhere in this Discussion.

Net Earnings

The Company’s net earnings for 2016 were $18.0 million, 

including pre-tax charges of $0.8 million related to the facil-

ity closures and deferred financing costs mentioned above, 

compared to $20.0 million for 2015, including the pre-tax 

charges of $1.6 million related to a modification of previ-

ously issued employee stock options, cost reduction initia-

tives in the United States and the facility closures and 

additional 2014 fiscal year-end audit fees described above. 

The net impact of the items described above was to reduce 

net earnings by $0.6 million in 2016 and to reduce net  

earnings by $1.0 million in 2015.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2016 were $0.89, 

including the facility closures and deferred financing costs 

mentioned above, compared to basic and diluted earnings 

per share of $0.96 for 2015, including the additional non-

cash charges related to the modification of previously issued 

employee stock options, cost reduction initiatives in the 

United States and the facility closures and the additional 

2014 fiscal year-end audit fees described above. The net 

impact of the items described above was to reduce basic 

and diluted earnings per share by $0.02 and $0.04 in 2016 

and 2015, respectively.

Fiscal Year 2015 Compared to Fiscal Year 2014
Fiscal Year Ended

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
March 1, 

2015
March 2, 

2014 Increase/(Decrease)

Net sales $ 162,086 $ 165,764 $ (3,678) –2%
Cost of sales 113,133 117,664 (4,531) –4%

Gross profit 48,953 48,100 853 2%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 24,373 25,168 (795) –3%
Restructuring charges 1,179 546 633 116%

Earnings from operations 23,401 22,386 1,015 5%
Interest expense 1,438 764 674 88%
Interest and other income 827 460 367 80%

Earnings before income taxes 22,790 22,082 708 3%
Income tax provision 2,747 64,411 (61,664) –96%

Net (loss) earnings $ 20,043 $ (42,329) $ 62,372 147%

Earnings per share:
 Basic (loss) earnings per share $ 0.96 $ (2.03) $ 2.99 147%

 Diluted (loss) earnings per share $ 0.96 $ (2.03) $ 2.99 147%
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Net Sales

The Company’s total net sales worldwide in 2015 decreased 

2% from 2014 as a result of lower unit volumes of printed 

circuit materials products shipped to the Company’s cus-

tomers in North America and Europe, which were partially 

offset by higher unit volumes of printed circuit materials 

products shipped to the Company’s customers in Asia and 

higher volumes of aerospace composite materials, parts and 

assemblies. The decrease in sales of the Company’s printed 

circuit materials products in North America was primarily 

driven by a general slowdown in demand for certain legacy 

products, and the increase in sales of the Company’s printed 

circuit materials products in Asia was primarily driven by an 

increase in demand for the Company’s products as a result 

of the telecommunications infrastructure build-out in devel-

oping countries. The higher sales of the Company’s aero-

space composite materials, parts and assemblies products 

was primarily due to the qualification of its aerospace com-

posite materials on a long-term jet engine manufacturing 

program. The Company’s total net sales of its printed circuit 

materials products were $126.4 million in 2015 and $135.4 

million in 2014 and comprised 78% and 82% of the 

Company’s total net sales worldwide in 2015 and 2014, 

respectively. The Company’s total net sales of its aerospace 

composite materials, parts and assemblies and low-volume 

tooling products were $35.6 million in 2015 and $30.4 mil-

lion in 2014 and comprised 22% and 18% of the Company’s 

total net sales worldwide in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Company’s foreign sales were $86.7 million, or 53% of 

the Company’s total net sales worldwide, during 2015 com-

pared to $83.6 million of sales, or 50% of total net sales 

worldwide, during 2014. The Company’s foreign sales during 

2015 increased 4% from 2014 as a result of higher sales  

in Asia.

The Company’s sales in North America, Asia and Europe 

were 46%, 47% and 7%, respectively, of the Company’s 

total net sales worldwide in 2015 compared to 50%, 43% 

and 7%, respectively, in 2014. The Company’s sales in 

North America decreased 8%, its sales in Asia increased 

6% and its sales in Europe decreased 9% in 2015 compared 

to 2014.

During 2015, 92% of the Company’s total net sales worldwide 

of printed circuit materials consisted of high performance 

printed circuit materials, compared to 88% during 2014.

Gross Profit

Despite the reduction in the Company’s total net sales and 

the fixed nature of certain overhead costs, the Company’s 

gross profit in 2015 was 2% higher than its gross profit in 

the prior fiscal year, and the overall gross profit as a per-

centage of net sales increased to 30.2% in 2015 compared 

to 29.0% in 2014. The increase in the gross profit margin 

was primarily due to reductions in utility rates, cost reduc-

tion initiatives in the United States, a decrease in repairs and 

maintenance expenses and the improved operating perfor-

mance of the Company’s PATC business unit as a result of 

the increase in sales and efficiencies from larger production 

volumes. The gross profit in 2015 also benefited from the 

higher percentage of sales of higher margin, high perfor-

mance printed circuit materials products than in 2014 and 

the growing percentage of sales of the more technically 

advanced high performance products.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 

$0.8 million, or 3%, during 2015 compared to 2014. Such 

expenses measured as percentages of sales were 15.0% 

during 2015 compared to 15.2% during 2014. The decrease 

in such expenses in 2015 was primarily the result of lower 

freight expenses commensurate with lower sales in 2015 

than in 2014, and lower travel and entertainment costs, 

legal fees and stock option expenses, which were partially 

offset by unfavorable changes in foreign exchange rates.

During 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded non-cash 

charges of $0.2 million and $0.7 million, respectively, result-

ing from the modification of previously issued employee 

stock options resulting from the $1.50 per share special 

cash dividend paid by the Company in February 2015 and 

the $2.50 per share special cash dividend paid by the 

Company in February 2014. Selling, general and administra-

tive expenses in 2015 included $1.4 million of stock option 

expenses compared to $1.7 million of such expenses in 2014.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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Restructuring Charges

During 2015, the Company recorded pre-tax restructuring 

charges of $1.2 million in connection with cost reduction 

initiatives in the United States and the closures in prior  

years of its facilities located in Zhuhai, China and Newburgh, 

New York, compared to pre-tax restructuring charges of 

$0.5 million in 2014 related to the closure of the facility in 

Zhuhai, China.

Earnings from Operations

For the reasons set forth above, the Company’s earnings 

from operations were $23.4 million for 2015, including the 

non-cash pre-tax charges of $0.2 million associated with 

the modification of previously issued employee stock 

options, pre-tax restructuring charges of $1.2 million related 

to cost reduction initiatives in the United States and the  

closures in prior years of facilities in Zhuhai, China and 

Newburgh, New York and a pre-tax charge of $0.3 million 

for additional fees incurred in connection with the 2014  

fiscal year-end audit, compared to $22.4 million for 2014, 

including the non-cash pre-tax charges of $0.7 million asso-

ciated with the modification of previously issued employee 

stock options, $0.5 million related to the closure of the 

facility in Zhuhai, China and $0.3 million for a financial advi-

sory services retention fee.

Interest Expense

Interest expense in 2015 related to the Company’s out-

standing borrowings under the four-year amended and 

restated revolving credit facility agreement that the Com-

pany entered into with PNC Bank, National Association in 

the fourth quarter of 2014. The increase in interest expense 

of $0.7 million in 2015 was due to the increase in outstand-

ing borrowings in 2015 compared to 2014. The amended 

and restated agreement provides for an interest rate on  

the outstanding loan balance of LIBOR plus 1.10%. Other 

interest rate options are available to the Company under  

the agreement.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income was $0.8 million and $0.5 million 

for 2015 and 2014, respectively. Interest income increased 

80% in 2015 as a result of higher weighted average interest  

rates based on larger average balances of marketable secu-

rities held by the Company in 2015 compared to the prior 

year’s comparable period. During 2015 and 2014, the 

Company earned interest income principally from its invest-

ments, which were primarily in short-term instruments and 

money market funds.

Income Tax Provision

The Company’s effective income tax rate of 12.1% for 2015 

was lower than the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate 

because portions of the Company’s taxable income in 2015 

were derived in foreign jurisdictions with lower effective 

income tax rates. The Company’s effective income tax rate 

was 291.7% for 2014, which was adversely affected by a 

non-cash charge of $64.0 million for the accrual of U.S. 

deferred income taxes on the undistributed earnings of the 

Company’s subsidiary in Singapore. The aforementioned 

charge was partially offset by a tax benefit of $2.2 million 

recorded by the Company in the 2014 second quarter in 

connection with a tax refund related to amended federal 

income tax returns. The effect of the aforementioned items 

was to increase the Company’s income tax provision from 

$2.6 million to $64.4 million for 2014.

Net Earnings

The Company’s net earnings for 2015 were $20.0 million, 

including the pre-tax charges of $1.6 million related to a 

modification of previously issued employee stock options, 

cost reduction initiatives in the United States and the facility 

closures and additional 2014 fiscal year-end audit fees men-

tioned above, compared to a net loss of $42.3 million for 

2014, including $64.0 million related to the U.S. income tax 

on the undistributed earnings of the Company’s subsidiary 

in Singapore, a tax benefit of $2.2 million in connection 

with a tax refund related to amended federal income tax 

returns and pre-tax charges of $1.5 million related to the 

modification of previously issued employee stock options, 

the closure of the Company’s facility in Zhuhai, China and 

the financial advisory services fee mentioned above. The net 

impact of the items described above was to reduce net 

earnings by $1.0 million in 2015 and to reduce net earnings 

by $62.5 million in 2014.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2015 were $0.96, 

including the additional non-cash charges related to the 

modification of previously issued employee stock options, 

cost reduction initiatives in the United States and the facility 

closures and the additional 2014 fiscal year-end audit fees 

mentioned above, compared to a basic and diluted loss  

per share of $2.03, including the non-cash charge for the 

accrual of U.S. income tax on undistributed earnings, the 

tax benefit in connection with the tax refund related to 

amended federal income tax returns, the additional non-

cash charges resulting from the modification of previously 

issued employee stock options, the pre-tax charges in  

connection with the closure of the Zhuhai facility and the 

financial advisory services retention fee mentioned above. 

The net impact of the items described above was to reduce 

basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.04 and $3.00 in 

2015 and 2014, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES:

(Amounts in thousands)

February 28, 

2016

March 1, 

2015

Increase/

(Decrease)

Cash and marketable securities $237,425 $ 272,133 $ (34,708)

Restricted cash 10,000 — 10,000

Working capital 255,507 283,535 (28,028)

Fiscal Year Ended Increase/(Decrease)

(Amounts in thousands)

February 28, 

2016

March 1, 

2015

March 2, 

2014

2016 vs. 

2015

2015 vs. 

2014

Net cash provided by operating activities $    13,948 $ 29,011 $ 30,382 $ (15,063) $ (1,371)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (8,017) 5,481 (50,675) (13,498) 56,156

Net cash used in financing activities (49,495) (25,948) (32,536) (23,547) 6,588

Cash, Marketable Securities and Restricted Cash

Of the $247.4 million of cash, restricted cash and market-

able securities at February 28, 2016, approximately $231.6 

million was owned by certain of the Company’s wholly 

owned foreign subsidiaries. The Company believes it has 

sufficient liquidity to fund its operating activities through 

the end of 2017 and for the foreseeable future thereafter.

The change in cash, restricted cash and marketable securi-

ties at February 28, 2016 compared to March 1, 2015 was 

the result of lower cash provided by operating activities and 

a number of additional factors. The significant changes in 

cash provided by operating activities were as follows:

•  inventory decreased by 29% at February 28, 2016 com-

pared to March 1, 2015 primarily due to the reductions in 

total net sales and production levels;

•  prepaid expenses and other current assets were 63% 

lower at February 28, 2016 than at March 1, 2015 princi-

pally due to a decrease in current deferred tax assets as a 

result of the adoption of Accounting Standards Update 

No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet 

Classification of Deferred Taxes;

•  accounts payable decreased 11% at February 28, 2016 

compared to March 1, 2015 primarily due to the timing of 

payments to vendors and raw material purchases from 

suppliers;

•  income taxes payable decreased 29% at February 28, 

2016 compared to March 1, 2015 primarily as a result of a 

reduction in taxable income in Singapore in 2016;

•  current portion of long-term debt decreased 70% at 

February 28, 2016 compared to March 1, 2015 as a result 

of a decrease in the amount of required scheduled prin-

cipal payments under the credit agreement with HSBC 

Bank USA compared to the credit agreement with PNC 

Bank; and

•  deferred income tax liabilities decreased 24% at February 

28, 2016 compared to March 1, 2015 primarily due to 

income tax payments made in connection with the  

$61.0 million repatriation of cash from Singapore to the  

United States.
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In addition, the Company paid $8.2 million and $39.6 mil-

lion in cash dividends during 2016 and 2015, respectively, 

including a special cash dividend of $31.4 million paid in the 

fourth quarter of 2015. During 2016, the Company received 

$2.0 million of proceeds from the sale of the Nelco Zhuhai 

building in Zhuhai, China, made $19.0 million of principal 

payments on its long-term debt and purchased treasury 

shares at an aggregate cost of $12.2 million.

Working Capital

The decrease in working capital at February 28, 2016 com-

pared to March 1, 2015 was due principally to decreases  

in cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, 

inventories and prepaid expenses and other current assets, 

partially offset by decreases in the current portion of long-

term debt, income taxes payable and current deferred 

income tax liabilities.

The Company’s current ratio (the ratio of current assets to 

current liabilities) was 16.3 to 1 at February 28, 2016 com-

pared with 10.5 to 1 at March 1, 2015.

Cash Flows

During 2016, the Company’s net earnings, before deprecia-

tion and amortization, stock-based compensation, amorti-

zation of bond premium and gain on sale of fixed assets, 

were $23.8 million. Such earnings reflected a decrease in 

deferred income taxes of $11.4 million and were increased 

by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $1.5 million, 

resulting in $13.9 million of cash provided by operating 

activities. The provision for deferred income taxes was pri-

marily related to taxes paid in connection with cash repatri-

ated to the United States from Singapore. During 2016, the 

Company expended $398,000 for the purchase of prop-

erty, plant and equipment compared to $430,000 during 

2015, and the Company paid $8.2 million and $39.6 million 

in cash dividends in 2016 and 2015, respectively. In addi-

tion, during 2016, the Company received $2.0 million in 

proceeds from the sale of the Nelco Zhuhai building in 

Zhuhai, China, made $19.0 million of principal payments on 

its long-term debt and purchased treasury shares at an 

aggregate cost of $12.2 million.

Long-Term Debt

At February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, the Company had 

$75.0 million and $94.0 million of bank debt, respectively. 

In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company entered into a 

four-year amended and restated revolving credit facility 

agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) with PNC 

Bank, National Association. As previously reported, the 

Company entered into a three-year revolving credit facility 

agreement with HSBC Bank USA in January 2016, which 

replaced the credit facility agreement that the Company 

entered into with PNC Bank in February 2014. For addi-

tional information, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Report.

Other Liquidity Factors

The Company believes its financial resources will be suffi-

cient, through the end of 2017 and for the foreseeable 

future thereafter, to provide for continued investment in 

working capital and property, plant and equipment and for 

general corporate purposes. The Company’s financial 

resources are also available for purchases of the Company’s 

common stock, appropriate acquisitions and other expan-

sions of the Company’s business.

The Company is not aware of any circumstances or events 

that are reasonably likely to occur that could materially 

affect its liquidity.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS:

The Company’s contractual obligations and other commer-

cial commitments to make future payments under con-

tracts, such as lease agreements, consist only of (i) operating 

lease commitments, commitments to purchase raw materi-

als and commitments to purchase equipment, as described 

in Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

included elsewhere in this Report, and (ii) the long-term 

debt described above. The Company has no other long-

term debt, capital lease obligations, unconditional purchase 

obligations or other long-term obligations, standby letters 

of credit, guarantees, standby repurchase obligations or 

other commercial commitments or contingent commit-

ments, other than two standby letters of credit in the total 

amount of $1.1 million to secure the Company’s obligations 

under its workers’ compensation insurance program.
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As of February 28, 2016 the Company’s significant contractual obligations, including payments due by fiscal year, were  

as follows:

Contractual Obligations
(Amounts in thousands) Total 2017

2018–

2019

2020–

2021

2022 and 

Thereafter

Operating lease obligations $ 12,625 $ 1,955 $ 3,741 $ 3,090 $3,839

Bank debt 75,000 3,000 72,000 — —

Total $ 87,625 $ 4,955 $ 75,741 $ 3,090 $3,839

At February 28, 2016, the Company had unrecognized tax 

benefits of $1.3 million. A reasonable estimate of the timing 

of the payment of these liabilities is not possible.

OFFBALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS:

The Company’s liquidity is not dependent on the use of, 

and the Company is not engaged in, any off-balance sheet 

financing arrangements, such as securitization of receivables 

or obtaining access to assets through special purpose entities.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS:

The Company is subject to various Federal, state and local 

government and foreign government requirements relating 

to the protection of the environment. The Company believes 

that, as a general matter, its policies, practices and proce-

dures are properly designed to prevent unreasonable risk of 

environmental damage and that its handling, manufacture, 

use and disposal of hazardous or toxic substances are in 

accord with environmental laws and regulations. However, 

mainly because of past operations and operations of prede-

cessor companies, which were generally in compliance with 

applicable laws at the time of the operations in question, 

the Company, like other companies engaged in similar busi-

nesses, is a party to claims by government agencies and 

third parties and has incurred remedial response and volun-

tary cleanup costs associated with environmental matters. 

Additional claims and costs involving past environmental 

matters may continue to arise in the future. It is the Com-

pany’s policy to record appropriate liabilities for such mat-

ters when remedial efforts are probable and the costs can 

be reasonably estimated.

In 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company incurred approxi-

mately $113,000, $44,000 and $27,000, respectively, for 

remedial response and voluntary cleanup costs and related 

legal fees, and the Company received, or expects to receive, 

reimbursement pursuant to general liability insurance cover-

age for approximately $111,000, $21,000 and $15,000, 

respectively, of such amounts. While annual environmental 

remedial response and voluntary cleanup expenditures, 

including legal fees, have generally been constant from year 

to year, and may increase over time, the Company expects it 

will be able to fund such expenditures from cash flow from 

operations. The timing of expenditures depends on a num-

ber of factors, including regulatory approval of cleanup 

projects, remedial techniques to be utilized and agreements 

with other parties. At February 28, 2016 and March 1, 

2015, there were no amounts recorded in accrued liabilities 

for environmental matters.

Management does not expect that environmental matters 

will have a material adverse effect on the liquidity, capital 

resources, business, consolidated results of operations or 

consolidated financial position of the Company. See Note 

12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

included elsewhere in this Report for a discussion of the 

Company’s contingencies, including those related to envi-

ronmental matters.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES:

The following information is provided regarding critical 

accounting policies that are important to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements and that entail, to a significant extent, 

the use of estimates, assumptions and the application of 

management’s judgment.
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General

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condi-

tion and results of operations are based upon the Company’s 

Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been pre-

pared in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States. The preparation of these 

Financial Statements requires the Company to make esti-

mates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 

the related disclosure of contingent liabilities. On an ongo-

ing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including 

those related to sales allowances, allowances for doubtful 

accounts, inventories, valuation of long-lived assets, income 

taxes, restructurings, contingencies and litigation, and 

employee benefit programs. The Company bases its  

estimates on historical experience and on various other 

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis for  

making judgments about the carrying values of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates under differ-

ent assumptions or conditions.

The Company believes the following critical accounting  

policies affect its more significant judgments and estimates 

used in the preparation of its Consolidated Financial 

Statements.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when products are 

shipped and title has been transferred to a customer, the 

sales price is fixed and determinable, and collection is  

reasonably assured. All material sales transactions are for 

the shipment of the Company’s products.

Sales Allowances and Product Warranties

The Company provides for the estimated costs of sales 

allowances at the time such costs can be reasonably esti-

mated. The Company’s products are made to customer 

specifications and tested for adherence to such specifica-

tions before shipment to customers. Composite parts and 

assemblies may be subject to “airworthiness” acceptance 

by customers after receipt at the customers’ locations.  

There are no future performance requirements other than  

the products’ meeting the agreed specifications. The 

Com pany’s bases for providing sales allowances for returns 

are known situations in which products may have failed due 

to manufacturing defects in the products supplied by the 

Company. The Company is focused on manufacturing the 

highest quality printed circuit materials and advanced com-

posite materials, parts and assemblies and tooling possible 

and employs stringent manufacturing process controls and 

works with raw material suppliers who have dedicated 

themselves to complying with the Company’s specifications 

and technical requirements. The amounts of returns and 

allowances resulting from defective or damaged products 

have been approximately 1.0% of sales for each of the 

Company’s last three fiscal years.

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable are due from purchas-

ers of the Company’s products. Credit is extended based on 

evaluation of a customer’s financial condition and, gener-

ally, collateral is not required. Accounts receivable are due 

within established payment terms and are stated at amounts 

due from customers net of an allowance for doubtful 

accounts. Accounts outstanding longer than established 

payment terms are considered past due. The Company 

determines its allowance by considering a number of fac-

tors, including the length of time accounts receivable are 

past due, the Company’s previous loss history, the custom-

er’s current ability to pay its obligation to the Company, and 

the conditions of the general economy and the electronics 

and aerospace industries. If the financial condition of the 

Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an 

impairment of their ability to make payments, additional 

allowances may be required. The Company writes off 

accounts receivable when they become uncollectible.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out 

method) or market. The Company writes down its inventory 

for estimated obsolescence or unmarketability based upon 

the age of the inventory and assumptions about future 

demand for the Company’s products and market conditions.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. In 
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addition, the Company assesses the impairment of goodwill 

at least annually. Important factors that could trigger an 

impairment review include, but are not limited to, signifi-

cant negative industry or economic trends and significant 

changes in the use of the Company’s assets or strategy of 

the overall business.

Income Taxes

As part of the processes of preparing its consolidated finan-

cial statements, the Company is required to estimate the 

income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which it oper-

ates. This process involves estimating the actual current tax 

expense together with assessing temporary differences 

resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and 

accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred 

tax assets and liabilities, which are included in the 

Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Deferred income 

taxes are provided for temporary differences in the report-

ing of certain items, such as depreciation and undistributed 

earnings of foreign subsidiaries, for income tax purposes 

compared to financial accounting purposes. In evaluating 

the Company’s ability to recover the deferred tax assets 

within the jurisdiction from which they arise, all positive and 

negative evidence is considered, including the scheduled 

reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable 

income, tax planning strategies and results of recent acqui-

sitions. If these estimates and assumptions change in the 

future, the Company may be required to record additional 

valuation allowances against its deferred tax assets, result-

ing in additional income tax expense in the Company’s 

Consolidated Statements of Operations, or conversely to 

further reduce the existing valuation allowance, resulting in 

less income tax expense. The Company evaluates the realiz-

ability of the deferred tax assets and assesses the need for 

additional valuation allowances quarterly.

Tax benefits are recognized for an uncertain tax position 

when, in the Company’s judgment, it is more likely than not 

that the position will be sustained upon examination by a 

taxing authority. For a tax position that meets the more-

likely-than-not recognition threshold, the tax benefit is 

measured as the largest amount that is judged to have a 

greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate 

settlement with a taxing authority. The liability associated 

with unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically due 

to changing circumstances and when new information 

becomes available. Such adjustments are recognized entirely 

in the period in which they are identified. The effective tax 

rate includes the net impact of changes in the liability for 

unrecognized tax benefits and subsequent adjustments as 

considered appropriate by the Company. While it is often 

difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolu-

tion of any particular tax matter, the Company believes its 

liability for unrecognized tax benefits is adequate. Interest 

and penalties recognized on the liability for unrecognized 

tax benefits are recorded as income tax expense.

Contingencies and Litigation

The Company is subject to a number of proceedings, law-

suits and other claims related to environmental, employ-

ment, product and other matters. The Company is required 

to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or out-

comes in these matters as well as potential ranges of prob-

able losses. A determination of the amount of reserves 

required, if any, for these contingencies is made after care-

ful analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves 

may change in the future due to new developments in each 

matter or changes in approach, such as a change in settle-

ment strategy in dealing with these matters.

Employee Benefit Programs

The Company’s obligations for workers’ compensation 

claims are effectively self-insured, although the Company 

maintains individual and aggregate stop-loss insurance  

coverage for such claims. The Company accrues its workers’ 

compensation liability based on estimates of the total expo-

sure of known claims using historical experience and pro-

jected loss development factors less amounts previously 

paid out.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have a non- 

contributory profit sharing retirement plan covering their 

regular full-time employees. In addition, the Company’s 

subsidiaries have various bonus and incentive compensation 

programs, most of which are determined at management’s 

discretion.

The Company’s reserves associated with these self-insured 

liabilities and benefit programs are reviewed by manage-

ment for adequacy at the end of each reporting period.
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Foreign Exchange Risk—The Company’s primary foreign 

currency exchange exposure relates to the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign subsidiaries using currencies 

other than the U.S. dollar as their functional currencies. The 

Company does not believe that a hypothetical 10% fluctua-

tion in foreign exchange rates would have had a material 

impact on its consolidated results of operations or financial 

position.

Interest Rate Risk—The exposure to market risks for changes 

in interest rates relates to the Company’s short-term invest-

ment portfolio and its variable rate borrowings under its 

long-term debt obligations pursuant to the three-year 

revolving credit facility agreement (“Credit Agreement”) 

with HSBC Bank USA, National Association. See Note 10 of 

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 

elsewhere in this Report. The Company does not use deriv-

ative financial instruments in its investment portfolio or its 

long-term debt obligations. The Company’s short-term 

investment portfolio is managed in accordance with guide-

lines issued by the Company. These guidelines are designed 

to establish a high quality fixed income portfolio of gov-

ernment and highly rated corporate debt securities with a  

maximum weighted maturity of less than one year. Based 

on the average anticipated maturity of the investment port-

folio at the end of the 2016 fiscal year, the Company does 

not believe that a hypothetical 10% fluctuation in short-

term interest rates would have had a material impact on the 

consolidated results of operations or financial position of 

the Company. The Company’s outstanding borrowings of 

$75.0 million, at February 28, 2016, represent 100% of the 

Company’s total long-term debt obligations. Outstanding 

borrowings bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Company’s 

option, either (a) a fluctuating rate per annum (computed 

on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may 

be, and actual days elapsed) equal to the Base Rate, such 

interest rate to change automatically from time to time 

effective as of the effective date of each change in the Base 

Rate or (b) a rate per annum (computed on the basis of a 

year of 360 days and actual days elapsed) equal to the one, 

two, three or six month LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Credit 

Agreement) plus 1.15%. The Company does not believe 

that a hypothetical 10% fluctuation in interest rates would 

have had a material impact on the consolidated results of 

operations or financial position of the Company.



Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries

Park Electrochemical Corp. 25

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS 

PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 

sheets of Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries as of 

February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, and the related con-

solidated statements of operations, comprehensive earn-

ings, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then 

ended. Park Electrochemical Corp.’s management is respon-

sible for these consolidated financial statements and finan-

cial statement schedule. Our responsibility is to express an 

opinion on these consolidated financial statements and 

financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements are free of material mis-

statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evi-

dence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 

statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 

referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsid-

iaries as of February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, and the 

results of their operations and their cash flows for the years 

then ended, in conformity with accounting principles gener-

ally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our 

opinion, the financial statement schedule, when considered 

in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements 

taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects, the 

information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries’ internal 

control over financial reporting as of February 28, 2016, 

based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated 

Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and 

our report dated May 13, 2016 expressed an unqualified 

opinion thereon.

Jericho, New York 

May 13, 2016
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS 

PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Park 

Electrochemical Corp. (a New York corporation) and subsid-

iaries (the “Company”) as of March 2, 2014 (not presented 

herein), and the related consolidated statements of opera-

tions, comprehensive earnings (loss), shareholders’ equity, 

and cash flows for the year ended March 2, 2014. These 

financial statements and financial statement schedule are 

the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon-

sibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

and financial statement schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 

audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-

ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles  

used and significant estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-

tion. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 

for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 

referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsid-

iaries as of March 2, 2014 (not presented herein), and the 

results of their operations and their cash flows for the year 

ended March 2, 2014 in conformity with accounting princi-

ples generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Also in our opinion, the related financial statement sched-

ule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated 

financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all 

material respects, the information set forth therein.

New York, New York 

May 16, 2014

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 

2015

Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 97,757 $ 141,538
 Marketable securities (Note 2) 139,668 130,595
 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $324 and $396, respectively 22,583 21,431
 Inventories (Note 3) 10,214 14,439
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 4) 1,963 5,256

   Total current assets 272,185 313,259
Property, plant and equipment, net 21,512 26,537
Goodwill and other intangible assets (Note 3) 9,833 9,840
Restricted cash 10,000 —
Other assets (Note 4) 1,247 1,046

   Total assets $314,777 $ 350,682

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $  3,000 $ 10,000
 Accounts payable 6,155 6,882
 Accrued liabilities (Note 3) 4,580 4,767
 Income taxes payable 2,943 4,141
 Current deferred income taxes — 3,934

   Total current liabilities 16,678 29,724
Long-term debt (Note 10) 72,000 84,000
Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 43,937 54,155
Other liabilities (Note 4) 1,295 1,204

   Total liabilities 133,910 169,083

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 11 and 12)
Shareholders’ equity (Note 6):
 Preferred stock, $1 par value per shares—authorized, 500,000 shares; issued, none —
  Common stock, $0.10 par value per shares—authorized, 60,000,000 shares; issued,  

 20,965,144 and 20,962,644 shares, respectively 2,096 2,096
 Additional paid-in capital 166,398 164,819
 Retained earnings 25,922 16,048
 Accumulated other comprehensive earnings 1,471 1,468

195,887 184,431
 Less treasury stock, at cost, 730,473 and 130,641 shares, respectively (15,020) (2,832)

   Total shareholders’ equity 180,867 181,599

   Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $314,777 $ 350,682

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 

2015

March 2, 

2014

Net sales $145,855 $ 162,086 $ 165,764
Cost of sales 103,103 113,133 117,664

Gross profit 42,752 48,953 48,100
Selling, general and administrative expenses 21,211 24,373 25,168
Restructuring charges (Note 8) 535 1,179 546

Earnings from operations 21,006 23,401 22,386
Interest expense (Note 10) 1,657 1,438 764
Interest and other income 1,149 827 460

Earnings before income taxes 20,498 22,790 22,082
 Income tax provision (Note 4) 2,469 2,747 64,411

Net earnings (loss) $ 18,029 $ 20,043 $ (42,329)

Earnings (loss) per share (Note 7):
 Basic earnings (loss) per share $   0.89 $ 0.96 $ (2.03)

 Basic weighted average shares 20,347 20,912 20,849

 Diluted earnings (loss) per share $   0.89 $ 0.96 $ (2.03)

 Diluted weighted average shares 20,352 20,986 20,849

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS)
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 

2015

March 2, 

2014

Net earnings (loss) $18,029 $20,043 $(42,329)

Other comprehensive earnings, net of tax:
 Foreign currency translation 62 185 420
 Unrealized gains on marketable securities:
  Unrealized holding gains arising during the period 52 90 117
  Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in net earnings (loss) (18) (21) (20)
 Unrealized losses on marketable securities:
  Unrealized holding losses arising during the period (156) (20) (83)
  Less: reclassification adjustment for losses included in net earnings (loss) 63 13 158

Other comprehensive earnings 3 247 592

Total comprehensive earnings (loss) $18,032 $20,290 $(41,737)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Common Stock
Additional 

Paid-in Retained

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive Treasury Stock

Shares Amount Capital Earnings Earnings Shares Amount

Balance, March 3, 2013 20,831,578 $2,083 $158,790 $138,514 $  629 4,066 $ (94)
 Net loss — — — (42,329) — — —
 Foreign currency translation — — — — 420 — —
  Unrealized gain on marketable  

 securities, net of tax — — — — 172 — —
 Stock options exercised 51,266 5 1,157 — — — —
 Stock-based compensation — — 1,730 — — — —
 Repurchase of treasury shares — — — — — 8 —
 Cash dividends ($2.90 per share) — — — (60,534) — — —

Balance, March 2, 2014 20,882,844 $2,088 $161,677 $ 35,651 $1,221 4,074 $ (94)
 Net earnings — — — 20,043 — — —
 Foreign currency translation — — — — 185 — —
  Unrealized gain on marketable  

 securities, net of tax — — — — 62 — —
 Stock options exercised 79,800 8 1,724 — — — —
 Stock-based compensation — — 1,418 — — — —
 Repurchase of treasury shares — — — — — 126,567 (2,738)
 Cash dividends ($1.90 per share) — — — (39,646) — — —

Balance, March 1, 2015 20,962,644 $2,096 $164,819 $ 16,048 $1,468 130,641 $ (2,832)
 Net earnings — — — 18,029 — — —
 Foreign currency translation — — — — 62 — —
  Unrealized loss on marketable  

 securities, net of tax — — — — (59) — —
 Stock options exercised 2,500 — 44 — — — —
 Stock-based compensation — — 1,535 — — — —
 Repurchase of treasury shares — — — — — 599,832 (12,188)
 Cash dividends ($.40 per share) — — — (8,155) — — —

Balance, February 28, 2016 20,965,144 $2,096 $166,398 $ 25,922 $1,471 730,473 $ (15,020)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 

2015

March 2, 

2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
 Net earnings (loss) $  18,029 $ 20,043 $ (42,329)
  Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided  

 by operating activities:
   Depreciation and amortization 3,369 3,559 3,757
   Stock-based compensation 1,535 1,418 1,730
   (Benefit) provision for deferred income taxes (11,412) (2,815) 63,681
   Amortization of bond premium 886 796 1,816
   Gain on sale of fixed assets (31) — (75)
   Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
    Accounts receivable (1,152) 1,138 3,087
    Inventories 4,225 (664) (925)
    Prepaid expenses and other current assets (131) 1,713 2,442
    Other assets and liabilities 620 1,490 (813)
    Accounts payable (727) 322 (240)
    Accrued liabilities (65) 866 (567)
    Income taxes payable (1,198) 1,145 (1,182)

     Net cash provided by operating activities 13,948 29,011 30,382

Cash flows from investing activities:
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (398) (430) (1,117)
 Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 2,057 — 100
 Purchases of marketable securities (105,998) (100,074) (210,693)
 Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities 96,322 105,985 161,035

     Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (8,017) 5,481 (50,675)

Cash flows from financing activities:
 Dividends paid (8,155) (39,646) (60,534)
 Decrease (increase) in restricted cash (10,000) 25,000 (25,000)
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options 44 1,732 1,162
 Proceeds from long-term debt 75,000 — 52,000
 Payments of long-term debt (94,000) (10,000) —
 Payments for debt issuance costs (196) (296) (164)
 Purchase of treasury stock (12,188) (2,738) —

     Net cash used in financing activities (49,495) (25,948) (32,536)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents before effect of  
 exchange rate changes (43,564) 8,544 (52,829)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (217) (156) (138)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (43,781) 8,388 (52,967)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 141,538 133,150 186,117

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  97,757 $ 141,538 $ 133,150

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Three years ended February 28, 2016

(Amounts in thousands, except share (unless otherwise stated), per share and option amounts)

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT  

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Park Electrochemical Corp. (“Park”), through its subsidiaries 

(collectively, the “Company”), is a global advanced mate-

rials company which develops, manufactures, markets and 

sells high-technology digital and RF/microwave printed  

circuit materials products principally for the telecommunica-

tions and internet infrastructure and high-end computing 

markets and advanced composite materials, parts and 

assemblies and low-volume tooling products for the aero-

space markets.

a. Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated finan-

cial statements include the accounts of Park and its subsid-

iaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions 

have been eliminated.

b. Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial state-

ments in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated finan-

cial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may 

differ from those estimates. In addition, certain amounts in 

the prior years’ consolidated statements of shareholders’ 

equity, consolidated statements of cash flows and Note 3, 

“Other Balance Sheet Data”, have been reclassified to con-

form to the current year presentation.

c. Accounting Period—The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 

or 53 week period ending the Sunday nearest to the last 

day of February. The 2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal years 

ended on February 28, 2016, March 1, 2015 and March 2, 

2014, respectively. Fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 all con-

sisted of 52 weeks.

d. Fair Value Measurements—Fair value is defined as the 

price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to trans-

fer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value measurements are broken down into three levels 

based on the reliability of inputs as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identi-

cal assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to 

access at the measurement date. An active market for the 

asset or liability is a market in which transactions for the 

asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume 

to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included 

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted 

prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, inputs 

other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset 

or liability (e.g., interest rates and yield curves observable at 

commonly quoted intervals or current market) and contrac-

tual prices for the underlying financial instrument, as well as 

other relevant economic measures.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or lia-

bility. Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to 

the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby 

allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market 

activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date.

The fair value of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 

accounts receivable, accounts payable and current liabilities 

approximate their carrying value due to their short-term 

nature. Due to the variable interest rates periodically adjust-

ing with the current LIBOR, the carrying value of outstand-

ing borrowings under the Company’s long-term debt 

approximates its fair value. (See Note 10). Certain assets 

and liabilities of the Company are required to be recorded 

at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis.  

On a recurring basis, the Company records its marketable 

securities at fair value using Level 1 or Level 2 inputs. (See 

Note 2).
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The Company’s non-financial assets measured at fair value 

on a non-recurring basis include goodwill and any long-

lived assets written down to fair value. To measure fair value 

of such assets, the Company uses Level 3 inputs consisting 

of techniques including an income approach and a market 

approach. The income approach is based on a discounted 

cash flow analysis and calculates the fair value by estimating 

the after-tax cash flows attributable to a reporting unit and 

then discounting the after-tax cash flows to a present value 

using a risk-adjusted discount rate. Assumptions used in the 

discounted cash flow analysis require the exercise of signifi-

cant judgment, including judgment about appropriate dis-

count rates, terminal values, growth rates and the amount 

and timing of expected future cash flows. There were no 

transfers between levels within the fair value hierarchy 

during the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years.

e. Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers 

all money market securities and investments with contrac-

tual maturities at the date of purchase of 90 days or less to 

be cash equivalents. The Company had $39,968 and $0 in 

debt securities included in cash equivalents at February 28, 

2016 and March 1, 2015, respectively, which were valued 

based on Level 2 inputs. (See Note 2). Certain of the 

Company’s cash and cash equivalents are in excess of U.S. 

government insurance. Approximately $231,572 of the 

$247,425 of cash and marketable securities and restricted 

cash at February 28, 2016 was owned by certain of the 

Company’s wholly owned foreign subsidiaries.

The Company classifies amounts required by the Credit 

Agreement described in Note 10 to be maintained in cash 

and marketable securities as restricted cash on the consoli-

dated balance sheets.

Supplemental cash flow information:
Fiscal Year

2016 2015 2014

Cash paid during the year for:

 Income taxes, net of refunds $14,728 $1,707 $612

 Interest 1,119 1,380 729

At February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, the Company 

held approximately $28,878 and $28,970, respectively, of 

cash and cash equivalents in foreign financial institutions.

f. Marketable Securities—All marketable securities are 

classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value, 

with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in 

comprehensive earnings (loss). Realized gains and losses, 

amortization of premiums and discounts, and interest and 

dividend income are included in interest and other income, 

net. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific iden-

tification method.

g. Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost 

(first-in, first-out method) or market. The Company writes 

down its inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarket-

ability based upon the age of the inventory and assump-

tions about future demand for the Company’s products and 

market conditions.

h. Revenue Recognition—The Company recognizes reve-

nues when products are shipped and title has been  

transferred to a customer, the sales price is fixed and deter-

minable, and collection is reasonably assured. All material 

sales transactions are for the shipment of the Company’s 

products.

i. Sales Allowances and Product Warranties—The Com-

pany provides for the estimated costs of sales allowances  

at the time such costs can be reasonably estimated. The 

Company’s products are made to customer specifications 

and tested for adherence to specifications before shipment 

to customers. Composite parts and assemblies may be  

subject to “airworthiness” acceptance by customers after 

receipt at the customers’ locations. There are no future  

performance requirements other than the products’ meet-

ing the agreed specifications. The Company’s bases for  

providing sales allowances for returns are known situations 

in which products may have failed due to manufacturing 

defects in products supplied by the Company. The Company 

is focused on manufacturing the highest quality products  
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and employs stringent manufacturing process controls and 

works with raw material suppliers who have dedicated 

themselves to complying with the Company’s specifications 

and technical requirements. The amounts of returns and 

allowances resulting from defective or damaged products 

have been less than 1.0% of sales for each of the Company’s 

last three fiscal years.

j. Accounts Receivable—The Company’s accounts receiv-

able are due from purchasers of the Company’s products. 

Credit is extended based on evaluation of a customer’s 

financial condition and, generally, collateral is not required. 

Accounts receivable are due within established payment 

terms and are stated at amounts due from customers net of 

an allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts outstanding 

longer than established payment terms are considered past 

due. The Company determines its allowance by considering 

a number of factors, including the length of time accounts 

receivable are past due, the Company’s previous loss his-

tory, the customer’s current ability to pay its obligation to 

the Company, and the conditions of the general economy 

and the electronics and aerospace industries. If the financial 

condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, 

resulting in an impairment of their ability to make pay-

ments, additional allowances may be required. The Com-

pany writes off accounts receivable when they become 

uncollectible.

k. Valuation of LongLived Assets—The Company 

assesses the impairment of long-lived assets whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carry-

ing value of such assets may not be recoverable. Important 

factors that could trigger an impairment review include, but 

are not limited to, significant negative industry or economic 

trends and significant changes in the use of the Company’s 

assets or strategy of the overall business. No impairments of 

long-lived assets were identified in the 2016, 2015 or 2014 

fiscal years other than impairments associated with restruc-

turing activities (See Note 8).

l. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—Goodwill is 

not amortized. Other intangible assets are amortized over 

the useful lives, which is 15 years, of the assets on a straight-

line basis. The Company tests for impairment of intangible 

assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-

cate that the carrying value of such assets may not be 

recoverable. With respect to goodwill, the Company first 

assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more 

likely than not that the fair value is less than the carrying 

value. If, based on that assessment, the Company believes it 

is more likely than not that the fair value is less than the 

carrying value, a two-step goodwill impairment test is per-

formed. The Company assesses the impairment of goodwill 

at least annually. The Company conducts its annual good-

will impairment test as of the first day of the fourth quarter. 

The Company concluded that there was no impairment in 

the 2016, 2015 or 2014 fiscal years.

m. Shipping Costs—The amounts paid by the Company to 

third-party shippers for transporting products to customers, 

which are not reimbursed by customers, are classified as 

selling expenses. The shipping costs included in selling, gen-

eral and administrative expenses were approximately 

$2,855, $3,398 and $3,833 for the 2016, 2015 and 2014 

fiscal years, respectively.

n. Property, Plant and Equipment—Property, plant and 

equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization. The Company capitalizes additions, 

improvements and major renewals and expenses mainte-

nance, repairs and minor renewals as incurred. Depreciation 

and amortization are computed principally by the straight-

line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures are generally 

depreciated over 10 years. Building and leasehold improve-

ments are generally depreciated over 25–30 years or the 

term of the lease, if shorter. The depreciation and amortiza-

tion expenses associated with property, plant and equip-

ment were $3,369, $3,559 and $3,757 for the 2016, 2015 

and 2014 fiscal years, respectively.
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o. Income Taxes—Deferred income taxes are provided for 

temporary differences in the reporting of certain items, 

such as depreciation and undistributed earnings of foreign 

subsidiaries, for income tax purposes compared to financial 

accounting purposes. In evaluating the Company’s ability to 

recover the deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from 

which they arise, all positive and negative evidence is con-

sidered, including the scheduled reversal of deferred tax  

liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning 

strategies and results of recent acquisitions. If these esti-

mates and assumptions change in the future, the Company 

may be required to record additional valuation allowances 

against its deferred tax assets, resulting in additional income 

tax expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of 

Operations, or conversely to further reduce the existing  

valuation allowance, resulting in less income tax expense. 

The Company evaluates the realizability of the deferred  

tax assets and assesses the need for additional valuation 

allowances quarterly.

Tax benefits are recognized for an uncertain tax position 

when, in the Company’s judgment, it is more likely than not 

that the position will be sustained upon examination by a 

taxing authority. For a tax position that meets the more-

likely-than-not recognition threshold, the tax benefit is 

measured as the largest amount that is judged to have a 

greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate 

settlement with a taxing authority. The liability associated 

with unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically due 

to changing circumstances and when new information 

becomes available. Such adjustments are recognized entirely 

in the period in which they are identified. The effective tax 

rate includes the net impact of changes in the liability for 

unrecognized tax benefits and subsequent adjustments as 

considered appropriate by the Company. While it is often 

difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolu-

tion of any particular tax matter, the Company believes its 

liability for unrecognized tax benefits is adequate. Interest 

and penalties recognized on the liability for unrecognized 

tax benefits are recorded as income tax expense.

p. Foreign Currency Translation—Assets and liabilities  

of foreign subsidiaries using currencies other than the U.S. 

dollar as their functional currency are translated into U.S.  

dollars at period-end exchange rates or historical exchange 

rates, where applicable, and income and expense items  

are translated at average exchange rates for the period. 

Gains and losses resulting from translation are recorded  

as currency translation adjustments in comprehensive earn-

ings (loss).

q. StockBased Compensation—The Company accounts 

for employee stock options, the only form of equity com-

pensation issued by the Company, as compensation expense 

based on the fair value of the options on the date of grant 

and recognizes such expense on a straight-line basis over 

the four-year service period during which the options 

become exercisable. The Company determines the fair value 

of such options using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model. The Black-Scholes option pricing model incorporates 

certain assumptions relating to risk-free interest rate, 

expected volatility, expected dividend yield and expected 

life of options, in order to arrive at a fair value estimate.

r. Treasury Stock—The Company considers all shares of 

the Company’s common stock purchased by the Company 

as authorized but unissued shares on the trade date. The 

aggregate purchase price of such shares is reflected as a 

reduction to Shareholders’ Equity, and such shares are held 

in treasury at cost.

2. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

February 28, 2016:
U.S. Treasury and  

  other government 

securities $ 118,194 $ 118,194 $ — $ —
U.S. corporate debt  

 securities 21,474 21,474 — —

   Total marketable  

 securities $ 139,668 $ 139,668 $ — $ —

March 1, 2015:

U.S. Treasury and  

  other government 

securities $ 119,493 $ 119,493 $ — $ —

U.S. corporate debt  

 securities 11,102 7,084 4,018 —

   Total marketable  

 securities $ 130,595 $ 126,577 $ 4,018 $ —
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At March 1, 2015, the Company’s Level 2 investments con-

sisted of commercial paper which was not traded on a reg-

ular basis or in an active market, and the Company was 

unable to obtain pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

Therefore, these investments were measured using quoted 

market prices for similar assets currently trading in an active 

market or using model-derived valuations in which all signif-

icant inputs were observable for substantially the full term 

of the asset.

The following tables show the amortized cost basis, gross 

unrealized gains and losses and gross realized gains and 

losses on the Company’s available-for-sale securities:

Amortized 

Cost Basis

Gross 

Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 

Unrealized 

Losses

February 28, 2016:
U.S. Treasury and other  

 government securities $ 117,897 $372 $ 74
U.S. corporate debt securities 21,554 — 81

  Total marketable securities $ 139,451 $372 $155

March 1, 2015:

U.S. Treasury and other  

 government securities $ 119,191 $314 $ 12

U.S. corporate debt securities 11,097 5 —

  Total marketable securities $ 130,288 $319 $ 12

Fiscal Year

2016 2015 2014

Gross realized gains on sale $ — $17 $ 26

Gross realized losses on sale $ — $44 $ 209

The estimated fair values of such securities at February 28, 

2016, by contractual maturity, are shown below:

Due in one year or less $ 51,166

Due after one year through five years 88,502

$ 139,668

3. OTHER BALANCE SHEET DATA

Other balance sheet data consisted of the following:

February 28, 

2016

March 2, 

2015

Inventories:
Raw materials $  5,462 $ 7,376

Work-in-process 2,215 3,114

Finished goods 2,172 3,605

Manufacturing supplies 365 344

$ 10,214 $ 14,439

Property, plant and equipment:
Land, buildings and improvements $ 39,915 $ 42,019

Machinery, equipment, furniture  

 and fixtures 130,143 130,585

170,058 172,604

Less: accumulated depreciation  

 and amortization 148,546 146,067

$ 21,512 $ 26,537

Goodwill and other intangible assets:
Goodwill $  9,776 $ 9,776

Other intangibles 57 64

$  9,833 $ 9,840

Accrued liabilities:
Payroll and payroll related $  2,078 $ 2,117

Employee benefits 279 262

Workers’ compensation 241 300

Professional fees 762 671

Restructuring (Note 8) 64 182

Other 1,156 1,235

$  4,580 $ 4,767

Property, Plant and Equipment—The New England Laminates 

Co., Inc. building in Newburgh, New York is held for sale. In  

the 2004 fiscal year, the Company reduced the book value  

of the building to zero, and the Company intends to sell it 

during the 2017 fiscal year. The Company sold the Nelco 

Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. building for $2,026 during the  
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first quarter of the 2016 fiscal year. There was no gain or 

loss on the sale of the building, since the carrying value of 

the building was equal to the selling price.

4. INCOME TAXES

The income tax provision includes the following:

Fiscal Year

2016 2015 2014

Current:

 Federal $ 10,118 $ — $ (2,435)

 State and local (120) (39) (55)

 Foreign 3,883 5,601 3,220

13,881 5,562 730

Deferred:

 Federal (11,273) (2,238) 63,105

 State and local (205) (290) 69

 Foreign 66 (287) 507

(11,412) (2,815) 63,681

$ 2,469 $ 2,747 $ 64,411

Current federal income tax benefits of $2,435 in the 2014 

fiscal year were the result of loss carrybacks to the 2011 and 

2010 fiscal years, net of the tax impact from the loss of the 

domestic production activities deductions in those years.

The Company continuously evaluates the liquidity and capi-

tal requirements of its operations in the United States and 

of its foreign subsidiaries. As a result of such evaluations, 

the Company repatriated $61,000 in cash from Nelco 

Products Pte Ltd. in the 2016 fiscal year, and the Company 

recorded a non-cash charge in the fourth quarter of the 

2014 fiscal year for the accrual of U.S. deferred income 

taxes in the amount of $63,958 on undistributed earnings 

of the Company’s subsidiary in Singapore. No such charge 

was recorded in the 2016 or 2015 fiscal years.

State income tax benefits from loss carryforwards to future 

years were recognized as deferred tax assets in the 2016, 

2015 and 2014 fiscal years.
Fiscal Year

2016 2015 2014

United States $ (3,331) $ (6,704) $ (2,080)

Foreign 23,829 29,494 24,162

Earnings before income taxes $ 20,498 $ 22,790 $ 22,082

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the 

statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate as a result of the 

following:
Fiscal Year

2016 2015 2014

Statutory U.S. Federal tax rate 35.0% 34.0% 34.0%

State and local taxes,  

 net of Federal benefit 1.2 (1.1) (0.2)

Foreign tax rate differentials (21.0) (22.2) (19.6)

Valuation allowance on  

 deferred tax assets (0.2) 0.6 2.4

Adjustment on tax accruals  

 and other 3.3 1.3 (3.0)

Foreign tax credits (1.1) (0.5) (0.6)

Deferred tax liability on  

 undistributed foreign earnings (4.5) — 289.6

Claim for refund — — (10.5)

Permanent differences and other (0.7) — (0.4)

12.0% 12.1% 291.7%

The Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards 

of $0 and $8,611 in the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respec-

tively, state net operating loss carryforwards of approxi-

mately $10,083 and $14,360 in the 2016 and 2015 fiscal 

years, respectively, and total net foreign operating loss car-

ryforwards of approximately $30,871 and $33,672 in the 

2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respectively. The foreign net 

operating loss carryforwards were not utilized in the 2016 

fiscal year and the Company has set up a valuation allow-

ance for such carryforwards. The state net operating loss 

carryforwards will expire in 2017 through 2035.

The Company had foreign tax credit carryforwards of $524 

and $486 at February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, respec-

tively, which expire in 2026. As of February 28, 2016 and 

March 1, 2015, research and development and other credits 

were $0 and $392, respectively.

The Company had New York State investment tax credit 

carryforwards of $478 and $709 in the 2016 and 2015 fiscal 

years, respectively. The New York State investment tax  

credits expire in fiscal years 2017 through 2018. The 

Company had Kansas tax credits of $225 in both fiscal years 

2016 and 2015, for which no benefit has been provided. 

The Company does not believe that realization of the prin-

cipal portion of the Kansas tax credit or the investment  
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tax credit carryforward is more likely than not. The Kansas  

credits will expire in the 2019 and 2020 fiscal years. The 

Company had Arizona tax credits of $135 in both fiscal 

years 2016 and 2015, for which no benefit has been 

provided.

The deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $11,115 as of 

February 28, 2016 relates to foreign net operating losses 

and state tax credit carryforwards for which the Company 

does not expect to realize any tax benefit. During the 2016 

fiscal year, the valuation allowance decreased by $772 pri-

marily due to the write-off of net operating loss carryfor-

wards generated in Zhuhai and the expiration of New York 

State investment tax credit carryforwards for which no tax 

benefit was recognized. Deferred income taxes reflect the 

net tax effects of temporary differences between the carry-

ing amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 

purposes and the amounts for income tax purposes.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax 

assets and liabilities as of February 28, 2016 and March 1, 

2015 were as follows:
February 28, 

2016

March 1, 

2015

Deferred tax assets:

 Depreciation and amortization $  3,761 $  3,856

 Net operating loss carryforwards 10,800 14,686

 Tax credits carryforward 1,363 1,811

 Stock options 1,925 1,899

 Other, net 578 531

18,427 22,783

Valuation allowance on deferred  

 tax assets (11,115) (11,887)

Total deferred tax assets, net of  

 valuation allowance 7,312 10,896

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Depreciation (526) (446)

 Undistributed earnings (48,865) (63,958)

 Other (1,281) (1,257)

 Total deferred tax liabilities (50,672) (65,661)

 Net deferred tax liability $(43,360) $(54,765)

On the Consolidated Balance Sheets, the net deferred  

tax asset of $584 at February 28, 2016 was included in 

other assets and the net deferred tax asset of $3,324 at 

March 1, 2015 was included in prepaid expenses and other 

current assets.

At February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, the Company had 

gross unrecognized tax benefits of $1,295 and $1,204, 

respectively, included in other liabilities. The prior year 

unrecognized tax benefit of $2,715 relating to a claim for 

refund filed to recoup the tax benefit for the Company’s 

remaining investment in New England Laminates (U.K.) Ltd. 

was settled with the IRS in 2014 for $1,949 plus interest of 

$375. If any portion of the unrecognized tax benefits at 

February 28, 2016 were recognized, the Company’s effec-

tive tax rate would change.

As discussed in Note 15, on February 28, 2016 the Company 

early adopted Accounting Standards Update 2015-17 

Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of 

Deferred Taxes on a prospective basis. Therefore, the prior 

year balance sheet presentation has not been adjusted.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of 

unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

February 28, 

2016

March 1, 

2015

March 2, 

2014

Balance, beginning of year $1,135 $  276 $ 3,053

Gross decreases—tax  

 positions in prior period — (21) (2,776)

Gross increases—current  

 period tax positions 271 880 —

Audit settlements (57) — —

Lapse of statute of limitations (94) — (1)

Balance, end of year $1,255 $1,135 $  276

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits may increase or 

decrease in the future for various reasons, including adding 

or subtracting amounts for current year tax positions, expi-

ration of statutes of limitation on open income tax years, 

changes in the Company’s judgment about the level of 

uncertainty, status of tax examinations, and legislative 

changes. Changes in prior period tax positions are the result 

of a re-evaluation of the probability of realizing the benefit 

of a particular tax position based on new information. It is 

reasonably possible that none of the unrecognized tax  

benefits will be recognized in the 2016 fiscal year upon the 

expiration of statutes of limitations.
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A list of open tax years by major jurisdiction follows:

California 2012–2016

New York  2013–2016

France 2014–2016

Singapore 2009–2016

The Company had approximately $51 and $70 of accrued 

interest and penalties as of February 28, 2016 and March 1, 

2015, respectively. The Company’s policy is to include appli-

cable interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax 

benefits as a component of current income tax expense.

During the 2015 fiscal year, the New York State Department 

of Taxation closed an examination of the Company’s tax 

returns for the 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 fiscal years 

without audit adjustments assessed.

5. STOCKBASED COMPENSATION

As of February 28, 2016, the Company had a 2002 Stock 

Option Plan (the “Plan”), and no other stock-based com-

pensation plan. The Plan has been approved by the Com-

pany’s shareholders and provides for the grant of stock 

options to directors and key employees of the Company.  

All options granted under the Plan have exercise prices 

equal to the fair market value of the underlying common 

stock of the Company at the time of grant, which, pursuant 

to the terms of the Plan, is the reported closing price of the 

common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the 

date preceding the date the option is granted. Options 

granted under the Plan become exercisable 25% one year 

after the date of grant, with an additional 25% exercisable 

each succeeding anniversary of the date of grant, and expire 

10 years after the date of grant. Options to purchase a total 

of 1,800,000 shares of common stock were authorized for 

grant under the Plan. At February 28, 2016, 1,466,030 shares 

of common stock of the Company were reserved for issuance 

upon exercise of stock options under the Plan, and 234,638 

options were available for future grant under the Plan.

The compensation expense for stock options includes an 

estimate for forfeitures and is recognized on a straight-line 

basis over the requisite service period.

The future compensation expense to be recognized in earn-

ings before income taxes for options outstanding at 

February 28, 2016 was $3,212, which is expected to be  

recognized ratably over a weighted average vesting period 

of 2.66 years.

The Company records its stock-based compensation at fair 

value. The weighted average fair value for options was esti-

mated at the dates of grants, using the Black-Scholes option 

pricing model.

The following table represents the weighted average fair 

value and valuation assumptions used for options granted in 

the 2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal years:

Fiscal Year

2016 2015 2014

Weighted average  

  fair value per 

share of option 

grants $5.30 $8.05 $8.79

Risk-free  

 interest rates 1.57–1.86% 2.03–2.18% 1.64–2.15%

Expected stock  

 price volatility 27.91–31.71% 31.07–31.59% 32.80–34.00%

Expected  

 dividend yields 1.84–2.76% 1.34–1.77% 1.46–1.67%

Estimated  

 option terms

5.3–7.9 
years

7.8  

years

6.1–8.1 

years

The risk-free interest rates are based on U.S. Treasury rates 

at the date of grant with maturity dates approximately 

equal to the estimated term of the options at the date of 

the grant. Volatility factors are based on historical volatility 

of the Company’s common stock. The expected dividend 

yields are based on the regular quarterly cash dividend per 

share most recently declared by the Company and on the 

exercise price of the options granted during the 2016 fiscal 

year. The estimated terms of the options are based on eval-

uations of the historical and expected future employee 

exercise behavior.

During the fourth quarter of the 2015 fiscal year, the 

Company’s Board of Directors approved a reduction of 

$1.50 per share in the exercise price of all outstanding 

options as a result of the special cash dividend of $1.50 per 

share paid by the Company in February 2015. The reduction 

in the exercise price was treated as a modification of the 

stock options for accounting purposes. The modification, 

based on the fair value of the options both immediately 
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before and after the modification, resulted in total incre-

mental compensation expenses of $131 and $205 for the 

2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respectively, which were 

recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Information with respect to stock option activity follows:

Outstanding 

Options

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise 

Price

Weighted 

Average 

Remaining 

Contractual 

Term  

(in years)

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value

Balance,  

 March 3, 2013 977,783 $25.54

  Granted 193,600 27.20

  Exercised (51,266) 23.44

   Terminated  

 or expired (39,000) 26.07

   Granted  

   under option 

modification 902,517 23.13

   Cancelled  

   under option 

modification (902,517) 25.63

Balance,  

 March 2, 2014 1,081,117 $23.84

  Granted 18,000 25.81

  Exercised (79,800) 21.49

   Terminated  

 or expired (52,625) 24.21

   Granted  

  under option 

modification 996,892 22.55

   Cancelled  

  under option 

modification (996,892) 24.05

Balance,  

 March 1, 2015 966,692 $22.55

  Granted 379,450 17.82

  Exercised (2,500) 19.91

   Terminated  

 or expired (117,250) 21.53

Balance,  
 February 28, 2016 1,226,392 $21.19 6.16 $ —

Vested and  
  exercisable, 

February 28, 2016 721,525 $22.38 4.16 $ —

Expected to vest,  
 February 28, 2016 1,162,620 $21.19 6.16 $ —

The aggregate intrinsic values realized (the market value of 

the underlying shares on the date of exercise, less the exer-

cise price, times the number of shares acquired) from the 

exercise of options during the 2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal 

years were $4, $688 and $249, respectively.

A summary of the status of the Company’s non-vested 

options at February 28, 2016, and changes during the fiscal 

year then ended, is presented below:

Shares 

Subject to 

Options

Weighted 

Average 

Grant Date 

Fair Value

Non-vested, beginning of year 271,987 $8.27

Granted 379,450 5.30

Vested (106,470) 8.10

Terminated or expired (40,100) 8.02

Non-vested, end of year 504,867 $6.09

6. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Shareholders’ Rights Plan—On July 20, 2005, the Board of 

Directors renewed the Company’s shareholders’ rights plan 

on substantially the same terms as its previous rights plan 

which expired in July 2005. In accordance with such plan, a 

right (the “Right”) to purchase from the Company a unit 

consisting of one one-thousandth (1/1,000) of a share (a 

“Unit”) of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock,  

par value $1.00 per share, at a purchase price of $150 per 

Unit, subject to adjustment and exercisable as provided  

in the plan, was attached to each outstanding share of  

the Company’s common stock. The Rights expired on July 

20, 2015.

Treasury Stock—On January 8, 2015, the Company 

announced that its Board of Directors has authorized the 

Company’s purchase, on the open market and in privately 

negotiated transactions, of up to 1,250,000 shares of its 

common stock, representing approximately 6% of the 

Company’s 20,945,634 total outstanding shares as of the 

close of business on January 7, 2015. This authorization 

superseded all prior Board of Directors’ authorizations to 

purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. (See 

Note 16 for additional information).
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The Company announced on October 18, 2012 that its 

Board of Directors had authorized the Company’s purchase, 

on the open market and in privately negotiated trans-

actions, of up to 1,000,000 shares of its common stock, 

representing approximately 5% of the Company’s total out-

standing shares at that time.

During the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, the Company pur-

chased 599,832 and 126,564 shares, respectively, pursuant 

to the above authorizations at an aggregate purchase price 

of $12,187 and $2,738, respectively, leaving 531,412 shares 

that may be purchased pursuant to the January 8, 2015 

authorization. In addition, the Company purchased three 

shares during the 2015 fiscal year not pursuant to such 

authorizations.

Reserved Common Shares—At February 28, 2016, 1,466,030 

shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon 

exercise of stock options.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings—Accumulated 

balances related to each component of other comprehen-

sive earnings were as follows:
February 28, 

2016

March 1, 

2015

Currency translation adjustment $1,330 $1,268

Unrealized gains on investments, net of  

 taxes of $76 and $108, respectively 141 200

Accumulated balance $1,471 $1,468

7. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing net 

earnings (loss) by the weighted average number of shares 

of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted 

earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing net earn-

ings (loss) by the sum of (a) the weighted average number 

of shares of common stock outstanding during the period 

and (b) the potential common stock equivalents outstand-

ing during the period. Stock options are the only common 

stock equivalents; and the number of dilutive options is 

computed using the treasury stock method.

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and 

diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Fiscal Year

(Amounts in thousands,  

except per share amounts) 2016 2015 2014

Net earnings (loss) $ 18,029 $ 20,043 $ (42,329)

Weighted average common  

  shares outstanding for  

basic EPS 20,347 20,912 20,849

Net effect of dilutive options 5 74 —

Weighted average shares  

 outstanding for diluted EPS 20,352 20,986 20,849

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.89 $ 0.96 $ (2.03)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.89 $ 0.96 $ (2.03)

Potentially dilutive stock options, which were not included 

in the computation of diluted earnings per share because 

either the effect would have been antidilutive or the 

options’ exercise prices were greater than the average  

market price of the common stock, were 919,509, 192,063 

and 1,081,000 for the 2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal years, 

respectively.

8. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

The Company paid $100 and $218 of additional pre-tax 

restructuring charges during the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, 

respectively, related to the closure in the 2013 fiscal year of 

the Company’s Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. business 

unit located in Zhuhai, China. The Company sold the Nelco 

Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. building for $2,026 during the 

first quarter of the 2016 fiscal year. There was no gain or 

loss on the sale of the building, since the carrying value of 

the building was equal to the selling price.

The Company recorded additional restructuring charges  

of $435 and $485 in the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respec-

tively, related to the closure in the 2009 fiscal year of  

the Company’s New England Laminates Co., Inc. business 

unit located in Newburgh, New York. The New England 

Laminates Co., Inc. building in Newburgh, New York is held 

for sale. In the 2004 fiscal year, the Company reduced the 

book value of the building to zero, and the Company 

intends to sell it during the 2017 fiscal year.
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In the 2015 fiscal year third quarter, the Company recorded 

a $496 charge in connection with cost reduction initiatives 

in the United States. During the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, 

the Company paid $504 of charges related to such cost 

reduction initiatives, and there is no remaining liability 

related to such initiatives.

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Profit Sharing Plan—The Company and certain of its subsid-

iaries have a non-contributory profit sharing retirement plan 

covering substantially all full-time employees in the United 

States. The plan may be modified or terminated at any time, 

but in no event may any portion of the contributions revert 

back to the Company. The Company’s estimated contribu-

tions are accrued at the end of each fiscal year and paid  

to the plan in the subsequent fiscal year. The Company’s 

contributions to the plan were $100 and $268 for fiscal 

years 2015 and 2014, respectively. The contribution for fis-

cal year 2016 has not been determined or paid. Contributions 

are discretionary and may not exceed the amount allowable 

as a tax deduction under the Internal Revenue Code.

Savings Plan—The Company also sponsors a 401(k) savings 

plan, pursuant to which the contributions of employees of 

certain subsidiaries were partially matched by the Company 

in the amounts of $112, $123 and $142 in the 2016, 2015 

and 2014 fiscal years, respectively.

10. LONGTERM DEBT

On February 12, 2014, the Company entered into a four-year 

amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement 

(the “Amended Credit Agreement”) with PNC Bank, National 

Association (“PNC Bank”). The Amended Credit Agreement 

provided for loans up to $104,000 (the “Amended Facility”) 

to the Company and letters of credit up to $2,000 for the 

account of the Company. Through January 15, 2016, the 

Company had borrowed $52,000 to finance a special divi-

dend paid to shareholders of the Company in the 2014  

fiscal year fourth quarter and an additional $52,000 to  

continue the loan that was provided under a prior credit 

agreement with PNC Bank, and PNC Bank had issued two 

standby letters of credit for the account of the Company  

in the total amount of $1,100 to secure the Company’s obli-

gations under its workers’ compensation insurance pro-

gram. During the 2016 fiscal year, the Company made a 

$10,000 principal payment in accordance with the Amended 

Credit Agreement.

On January 15, 2016, the Company entered into a three-

year revolving credit facility agreement (the “Credit Agree-

ment”) with HSBC Bank USA, National Association (“HSBC 

Bank”). This Credit Agreement replaces the Amended 

Credit Agreement that the Company entered into with PNC 

Bank in February 2014 described in the preceding para-

graph. The Credit Agreement provides for loans up to 

$75,000 and letters of credit up to $2,000. During the 2016 

fiscal year, the Company made no payments in accordance 

with the Credit Agreement. The $75,000 is payable in 

twelve quarterly installments of $750 each, with the remain-

ing amount outstanding under the Credit Agreement pay-

able on January 26, 2019.

Borrowers under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a 

rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either (a) a fluctu-

ating rate per annum (computed on the basis of a year of 

365 or 366 days, as the case may be, and actual days 

elapsed) equal to the Base Rate, such interest rate to change 

automatically from time to time effective as of the effective 

date of each change in the Base Rate or (b) a rate per 

annum (computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and 

actual days elapsed) equal to the one, two, three or six 

month LIBOR Rate plus 1.15%. Under the Credit Agreement, 

the Company is also obligated to pay to HSBC Bank a non-

refundable commitment fee equal to 0.10% per annum 

(computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and actual 

days elapsed) multiplied by the average daily difference 

between the amount of (i) the revolving credit commitment 

plus the letter of credit facility and (ii) the revolving facility 

usage, payable quarterly in arrears.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Credit Agreement contains certain customary affirma-

tive and negative covenants and customary financial cove-

nants. The covenants under the Credit Agreement require 

the Company to (a) maintain a gross leverage charge ratio 

not to exceed 3.75 to 1.00 beginning with the fiscal quarter 

first ending after January 26, 2016 and continuing there-

after, (b) maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 

1.10 to 1.00 beginning with the fiscal quarter first ending 

after January 26, 2016 and continuing thereafter, and (c) 

maintain a minimum quick ratio of 2.00 to 1.00 beginning 

with the fiscal quarter first ending after January 26, 2016 

and continuing thereafter. In addition, the Company must 

maintain minimum domestic liquid assets of $10,000 in 

cash held at all times in a domestic deposit account.

At February 28, 2016, $75,000 of indebtedness was out-

standing under the HSBC Bank Credit Agreement with an 

interest rate of 1.66%. Interest expense recorded under 

both the PNC Bank Amended Credit Agreement and the 

HSBC Bank Credit Agreement was approximately $1,365, 

$1,438 and $764 during the 2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal 

years, respectively, which is included in interest expense  

on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In addition, 

the Company accelerated the deferred financing costs of 

$292 which related to the PNC Bank Credit Agreement that 

was recorded as interest expense in the fourth quarter of 

the 2016 fiscal year.

At February 28, 2016, scheduled principal maturities of 

long-term debt were as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount

2017 $ 3,000

2018 3,000

2019 69,000

75,000

Less current portion 3,000

$72,000

11. COMMITMENTS

The Company conducts certain of its operations in leased 

facilities, which include several manufacturing plants, ware-

houses and offices. The leases of facilities are for terms of 

up to 10 years, the latest of which expires in 2021. Many of 

the leases contain renewal options for periods ranging from  

one to ten years and require the Company to pay real estate 

taxes and other operating costs. The latest land lease expi-

ration is 2040.

These non-cancelable leases have the following payment 

schedule:

Fiscal Year Amount

2017 $ 1,955

2018 1,978

2019 1,763

2020 1,757

2021 1,333

Thereafter 3,839

$12,625

Rental expenses, inclusive of real estate taxes and other 

costs, were $2,774, $2,881 and $2,765 for the 2016, 2015 

and 2014 fiscal years, respectively.

12. CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

The Company is subject to a number of proceedings, law-

suits and other claims related to environmental, employ-

ment, product and other matters. The Company is required 

to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or out-

comes in these matters as well as potential ranges of  

probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves 

required, if any, for these contingencies is made after care-

ful analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves 

may change in the future due to new developments in each 

matter or changes in approach, such as a change in settle-

ment strategy in dealing with these matters. The Company 

believes that the ultimate disposition of such proceedings, 

lawsuits and claims will not have a material adverse effect 

on the liquidity, capital resources, business or consolidated 

results of operations or financial position of the Company.

Environmental Contingencies

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have been 

named by the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) 

or a comparable state agency under the Comprehensive 

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act 

(the “Superfund Act”) or similar state law as potentially 

responsible parties in connection with alleged releases of 

hazardous substances at four sites.
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Under the Superfund Act and similar state laws, all parties 

who may have contributed any waste to a hazardous waste 

disposal site or contaminated area identified by the EPA or 

comparable state agency may be jointly and severally liable 

for the cost of cleanup. Generally, these sites are locations 

at which numerous persons disposed of hazardous waste. 

In the case of the Company’s subsidiaries, generally the 

waste was removed from their manufacturing facilities  

and disposed at waste sites by various companies which 

contracted with the subsidiaries to provide waste disposal 

services. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries 

have been accused of or charged with any wrongdoing or 

illegal acts in connection with any such sites. The Company 

believes it maintains an effective and comprehensive envi-

ronmental compliance program.

The insurance carriers who provided general liability insur-

ance coverage to the Company and its subsidiaries for the 

years during which the Company’s subsidiaries’ waste was 

disposed at these sites have in the past reimbursed the 

Company and its subsidiaries for 100% of their legal 

defense and remediation costs associated with three of 

these sites.

The total costs incurred by the Company and its subsidiaries 

in connection with these sites, including legal fees incurred 

by the Company and its subsidiaries and their assessed 

share of remediation costs and excluding amounts expected 

to be reimbursed by insurance carriers, were approximately 

$2, $23 and $12 in the 2016, 2015 and 2014 fiscal years, 

respectively. The Company had no recorded liabilities for 

environmental matters for the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years.

Such recorded liabilities do not include environmental liabil-

ities and related legal expenses for which the Company 

believes that it and its subsidiaries have general liability 

insurance coverage for the years during which the Com-

pany’s subsidiaries’ waste was disposed at three sites for 

which certain subsidiaries of the Company have been 

named as potentially responsible parties. Pursuant to such  

general liability insurance coverage, three insurance carriers 

reimburse the Company and its subsidiaries for 100% of  

the legal defense and remediation costs associated with the 

three sites.

Included in selling, general and administrative expenses are 

charges for actual expenditures and accruals, based on esti-

mates, for certain environmental matters described above. 

The Company accrues estimated costs associated with 

known environmental matters, when such costs can be  

reasonably estimated and when the outcome appears prob-

able. The Company believes that the ultimate disposition  

of known environmental matters will not have a material 

adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash 

flows or financial position.

13. GEOGRAPHIC REGIONS

The Company is a global advanced materials company 

which develops, manufactures, markets and sells high tech-

nology digital and RF/microwave printed circuit materials 

principally for the telecommunications and internet infra-

structure and high-end computing markets and advanced 

composite materials, parts and assemblies and low volume 

tooling for the aerospace markets. The Company’s products 

are sold to customers in North America, Asia and Europe. 

The Company’s manufacturing facilities are located in 

Singapore, France, Kansas, Arizona and California. The 

Company operates as a single operating segment, which  

is advanced materials for the electronics and aerospace 

markets, with common management and identical or very  

similar economic characteristics, products, raw materials, 

manufacturing processes and equipment, customers and 

markets, marketing, sales and distribution methods and 

regulatory environments. The chief operating decision 

maker reviews financial information on a consolidated basis.

Sales are attributed to geographic region based upon the 

region in which the materials were delivered to the cus-

tomer. Sales between geographic regions were not 

significant.



Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries

44 Park Electrochemical Corp.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial information regarding the Company’s operations 

by geographic region is as follows:
Fiscal Year

2016 2015 2014

Sales:

 North America $ 75,215 $ 75,395 $ 82,187

 Asia 61,264 76,000 71,854

 Europe 9,376 10,691 11,723

  Total sales $ 145,855 $ 162,086 $ 165,764

Long-lived assets:

 North America $ 22,846 $ 23,562 $ 26,899

 Asia 9,478 12,490 13,557

 Europe 268 325 397

  Total long-lived assets $ 32,592 $ 36,377 $ 40,853

14. CUSTOMER AND SUPPLIER CONCENTRATIONS

Customers—Sales to TTM Technologies Inc. were 13.8% 

and 15.8% of the Company’s total worldwide sales for  

the 2016 and 2014 fiscal years, respectively. During the 

Company’s 2015 fiscal year, the Company did not have sales 

to any customer that equaled or exceeded 10% of the 

Company’s total worldwide sales.

While no other customer accounted for 10% or more of the 

Company’s total worldwide sales in the 2016 or 2014 fiscal 

years, the loss of a major printed circuit materials customer 

or of a group of customers could have a material adverse 

effect on the Company’s business or consolidated results of 

operations or financial position.

Sources of Supply—The principal materials used in the man-

ufacture of the Company’s high-technology printed circuit 

materials and advanced composite materials, parts and 

assemblies are specially manufactured copper foil, fiberglass 

cloth and synthetic reinforcements, and specially formulated 

resins and chemicals. Although there is a limited number of 

qualified suppliers of these materials, the Company has  

nevertheless identified alternate sources of supply for many 

of such materials. While the Company has not experienced 

significant problems in the delivery of these materials and 

considers its relationships with its suppliers to be strong, a 

disruption of the supply of material from a principal supplier 

could adversely affect the Company’s business. Furthermore,  

substitutes for these materials are not readily available, and 

an inability to obtain essential materials, if prolonged, could 

materially adversely affect the Company’s business.

15. ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently Adopted

In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 

2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classifi

cation of Deferred Taxes, as part of the FASB’s Simplification 

Initiative to identify, evaluate, and improve areas of US 

GAAP for which cost and complexity can be reduced while 

maintaining or improving the usefulness of the information 

provided to users. The ASU simplifies the presentation of 

deferred income taxes under US GAAP by requiring that all 

deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as non-current. 

For public companies, the ASU is effective for financial 

statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 

15, 2016 and interim reporting periods within those fiscal 

years. For all other entities, the ASU is effective for financial 

statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 

15, 2017 and interim reporting periods within fiscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2018. Earlier application is 

permitted for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or 

annual reporting period. The Company elected to early 

adopt this guidance retrospectively in the fourth quarter of 

the Company’s 2016 fiscal year, and the early adoption of 

this guidance did not impact the Company’s results of oper-

ations, cash flows or financial condition.

In March 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidance 

which states that when a parent sells an investment in a 

foreign entity and ceases to have a controlling interest in 

that foreign entity, or when a foreign subsidiary disposes of 

substantially all of its assets, or when a parent acquires con-

trol of a foreign entity in which the parent held an equity 

interest before the acquisition date, the cumulative transla-

tion adjustment should be released into net income. The 

Company adopted this guidance effective March 3, 2014, 

the first day of the Company’s 2015 fiscal year, and the 

adoption of this guidance did not impact the Company’s 

results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
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Recently Issued

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases 

(Topic 842), intended to increase transparency and compa-

rability among companies by requiring most leases to be 

included on the balance sheet and by expanding disclosure 

requirements, effective for public business entities for fiscal 

years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim 

periods within those fiscal years (i.e., January 1, 2019, for a 

calendar year entity). Nonpublic business entities should 

apply the amendments for fiscal years beginning after 

December 15, 2019 (i.e., January 1, 2020, for a calendar 

year entity), and interim periods within fiscal years begin-

ning after December 15, 2020. Early application is permit-

ted for all public business entities and all nonpublic business 

entities upon issuance. The Company is currently evaluating 

the impact that this new guidance may have on its consoli-

dated results of operations, cash flows, financial position 

and disclosures.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest—

Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 83530): Simplifying the 

Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, intended to simplify 

the presentation of debt issuance costs. The guidance 

requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized 

debt liability be presented on the balance sheet as a direct 

deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, 

consistent with the presentation for debt discounts. The 

recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance 

costs are not affected by the amendments in this ASU. In 

August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15, Interest—

Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 83530): Presentation and 

Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated 

with LineofCredit Arrangements—Amendments to SEC 

Paragraphs Pursuant to Staff Announcements at the June 

2015 EITF Meeting. ASU No. 2015-15 amends Subtopic 

835-30 to include that the SEC would not object to the 

deferral and presentation of debt issuance costs as an asset 

and subsequent amortization of debt issuance costs over 

the term of the line-of-credit arrangement, whether or not 

there are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit 

arrangement. This guidance is effective for fiscal years (and  

interim reporting periods within fiscal years) beginning after 

December 15, 2015. The Company does not expect this 

guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated 

results of operations, cash flows, financial position or 

disclosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards 

Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers, which supersedes the revenue recognition 

requirements in ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, 

including most industry-specific revenue recognition guid-

ance throughout the Industry Topics of the Codification. 

This guidance requires that an entity recognize revenue to 

depict the transfer of promised goods or services to cus-

tomers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 

which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 

those goods or services, and expands the related disclosure 

requirements. The new standard was originally scheduled to 

be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 

2016, including interim reporting periods within those fiscal 

years. In August 2015, the FASB delayed the effective date 

of this guidance for one year. With the delay, the new stan-

dard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 

15, 2017, and interim periods therein, with an option to 

adopt the standard on the originally scheduled effective 

date. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that 

this new guidance may have on its consolidated results of 

operations, cash flows, financial position and disclosures.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Company announced on March 10, 2016 that its Board 

of Directors has authorized the Company’s purchase, on the 

open market or in privately negotiated transactions, of up 

to 1,000,000 additional shares of its common stock, in 

addition to the unused prior authorization to purchase 

shares of the Company’s common stock announced on 

January 8, 2015. As a result, the Company is authorized to 

purchase up to a total of 1,531,412 shares of its common 

stock, representing approximately 7.6% of the Company’s 

20,234,671 total outstanding shares as of the close of busi-

ness on May 6, 2016.
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Quarter

First Second Third Fourth

Fiscal 2016:
 Net sales $ 37,829 $ 37,947 $ 34,323 $ 35,756
 Gross profit 11,367 10,361 10,297 10,727
 Net earnings 4,777 4,569 4,109 4,574
 Basic net earnings per share $ 0.23 $ 0.23 $ 0.20 $ 0.23
 Diluted net earnings per share $ 0.23 $ 0.23 $ 0.20 $ 0.23
 Weighted average common shares outstanding:
  Basic 20,546 20,337 20,253 20,251
  Diluted 20,565 20,340 20,253 20,251

Fiscal 2015:
 Net sales $ 48,817 $ 42,349 $ 34,679 $ 36,241
 Gross profit 16,929 12,171 8,598 11,255
 Net earnings 8,216 4,955 2,031 4,841
 Basic net earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.24 $ 0.10 $ 0.23
 Diluted net earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.24 $ 0.10 $ 0.23
 Weighted average common shares outstanding:
  Basic 20,880 20,925 20,947 20,896
  Diluted 20,988 21,029 20,989 20,937

Earnings per share are computed separately for each quarter. Therefore, the sum of such quarterly per share amounts may 

differ from the total for each year.

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT  
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible for estab-

lishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 

financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 

15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal 

control over financial reporting is designed to provide rea-

sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles in the United States of America. The 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes 

those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the mainte-

nance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 

fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 

of the Company, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that 

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit prepara-

tion of financial statements in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 

expenditures of the Company are being made only in accor-

dance with authorizations of management and directors of 

the Company, and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regard-

ing prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-

tion, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could 

have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-

ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 

to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 

that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-

dures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting as of February 28, 

2016. In making this assessment, management used the cri-

teria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 

of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control–

Integrated Framework (2013). Based on management’s 

assessment and those criteria, management concluded that 

the Company maintained effective internal control over 

financial reporting as of February 28, 2016.

The independent registered public accounting firm that 

audited the Company’s 2016 fiscal year financial statements 

included in this Annual Report has issued an attestation 

report on the Company’s internal control over financial 

reporting as of February 28, 2016. That report appears in 

this Annual Report under the heading “Report of Inde-

pendent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS 

PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP.

We have audited Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiar-

ies’ internal control over financial reporting as of February 

28, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control—

Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 

(COSO). Park Electrochemical Corp.’s management is 

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effective-

ness of internal control over financial reporting included  

in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on Park Electrochemical Corp. and 

subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting based 

on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

effective internal control over financial reporting was main-

tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining 

an understanding of internal control over financial report-

ing, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, test-

ing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 

of internal control based on the assessed risk and perform-

ing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 

the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a rea-

sonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

financial statements for external purposes in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America. A company’s internal control over finan-

cial reporting includes those policies and procedures that  

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reason-

able detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and  

dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide rea-

sonable assurance that transactions are recorded as nec-

essary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 

the United States of America, and that receipts and expen-

ditures of the company are being made only in accordance 

with authorizations of management and directors of the 

company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 

use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have 

a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-

ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 

to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 

that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-

dures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries 

have maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of February 28, 2016, 

based on the criteria established in Internal Control—

Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), the consolidated financial statements and financial 

statement schedule of Park Electrochemical Corp. and sub-

sidiaries as of February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015 and for 

the years then ended and our report dated May 13, 2016, 

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Jericho, New York

May 13, 2016
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MARKET FOR THE COMPANY’S COMMON EQUITY,  
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries

This Report may contain “forward-looking statements”, as 

defined under the Federal Securities Laws, including the 

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Certain 

portions of this Report which do not relate to historical 

financial information may be deemed to constitute  

forward-looking statements. Generally, you can identify 

forward-looking statements by the use of words such  

as “expect”, “estimate”, “project”, “budget”, “forecast”, 

“anticipate”, “goal”, “intend”, “plan”, “may”, “will”, “could”, 

“should”, “believes”, “predicts”, “potential”, “continue”, 

and similar expressions or the negative or other variations 

thereof. Such forward-looking statements are based on cur-

rent expectations that involve a number of uncertainties 

and risks that may cause actual events or results to differ 

materially from the Company’s expectations or from results 

which might be projected, forecasted, estimated or bud-

geted by the Company in forward-looking statements. 

Factors that could cause actual events or results to differ 

materially include, but are not limited to, general conditions 

in the electronics and aerospace industries, the Company’s 

competitive position, the status of the Company’s relation-

ships with its customers, economic conditions in interna-

tional markets, the cost and availability of raw materials, 

transportation and utilities, and the various other factors  

set forth in Item 1A “Risk Factors” and under the caption 

“Factors That May Affect Future Results” after Item 7 of the 

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 

ended February 28, 2016. These and other risks may be 

detailed from time to time in the Company’s periodic 

reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, 

including, but not limited to, its fiscal year 2016 Annual 

Report on Form 10-K and other SEC filings, copies of which 

may be obtained from www.sec.gov. The Company is  

under no obligation to (and expressly disclaims any such 

obligation to) update any of the information contained 

herein if any forward-looking statement later turns out to 

be inaccurate whether as a result of new information, future 

events or otherwise.

The Company’s common stock is listed and trades on the 

New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol PKE). (The com-

mon stock also trades on the Chicago Stock Exchange.) The 

following table sets forth, for each of the quarterly periods 

indicated, the high and low sales prices for the Common 

Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Com-

posite Tape and dividends declared on the common stock.

For the Fiscal Year Ended Stock Price
Dividends

February 28, 2016 High Low Declared

First Quarter $23.63 $20.30 $0.10
Second Quarter 22.58 16.60 0.10
Third Quarter 18.58 16.08 0.10
Fourth Quarter 17.74 13.65 0.10

For the Fiscal Year Ended
Stock Price

Dividends

March 1, 2015 High Low Declared

First Quarter $30.60 $24.03 $0.10

Second Quarter 32.46 25.59 0.10

Third Quarter 28.34 19.31 0.10

Fourth Quarter 25.87 20.50 1.60(a)

(a)  During the 2015 fiscal year fourth quarter, the Company declared its 

regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per share in December 2014, 

payable February 2, 2015 to shareholders of record on January 5,  

2015, and declared a special cash dividend of $1.50 per share in January 

2015, payable February 24, 2015 to shareholders of record on February 

10, 2015.

As of May 6, 2016, there were 598 holders of record of 

common stock.



Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries

50 Park Electrochemical Corp.

The graph set forth below compares the annual cumulative 

total return for the Company’s five fiscal years ended 

February 28, 2016 among the Company, the New York 

Stock Exchange Market Index (the “NYSE Index”) and a 

Zachs Investment Research, Inc. (formerly Morningstar, Inc., 

formerly Hemscott, Inc.) index for electronic components 

and accessories manufacturers (the “Group Index”)  

comprised of the Company and 200 other companies. The  

companies in the Group Index are classified in the  

same three-digit industry group in the Standard Industrial 

Classification Code system and are described as companies 

primarily engaged in the manufacture of electronic com-

ponents and accessories. The returns of each company in 

the Group Index have been weighted according to the  

company’s stock market capitalization. The graph has  

been prepared based on an assumed investment of $100 

on February 25, 2011 and the reinvestment of dividends 

(where applicable).

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Park Electrochemical Corp. $100.00 $95.76 $ 89.54 $112.38 $ 92.88 $ 61.86

Group Index $100.00 $92.95 $ 97.55 $120.25 $145.46 $131.71

NYSE Index $100.00 $99.93 $112.07 $135.08 $146.89 $131.21

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Park Electrochemical Corp. Group Index NYSE Index
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